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ANNUAL REPORT 2002

SCANDINAVIAN STRENGTH

We have strengthened our presence in the Scandinavian market. 
This increases our competitive thrust and flexibility, creates new arenas
for our expertise and facilitates our further development.
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SCANDINAVIAN
STRENGTH

Competitive thrust. Veidekke is
now present in the growth cen-
tres in all three Scandinavian
markets. We have thereby acqui-
red a competitive thrust that
makes us an interesting partner
for all types of major projects in
Norway, Denmark and Sweden.
A recent example of this is the
road project on the E4 highway
north of Stockholm.

Know-how. Demand for the
diverse expertise developed at
Veidekke is opening up opportuni-
ties throughout the Scandinavian
market. Shopping centres are a
field in which we have conside-
rable expertise. The contracts for
the two large shopping centres 
in Denmark, Lyngby and Rødovre,
are recent examples of the poten-
tial inherent in this specialised
knowledge.
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2002 – a Scandinavian breakthrough

In 2002, Veidekke wrote a new chapter in its Scandinavian history. Our acquisitions in Skåne in Sweden
have given us a firm footing in all the important growth regions: Oslo, Stockholm/Mälardalen, the
Gothenburg area and Copenhagen/Malmö. The Scandinavian countries have a great deal in common,
but there are also local differences. We give our local companies a large degree of freedom. They
know the market, the customers and the possibilities. At the same time, we want all of our projects
and customers to reap the benefits of our collective expertise and experience. Adaptability is there-
fore a key element of our Scandinavian strategy.

A stronger presence in Scandinavia’s growth regions is one of our three strategic priorities. The other
two are an improvement in profitability and a stronger financial position. Here, too, the year 2002 took
us a step in the right direction. Our pre-tax profit rose from NOK 135 million to NOK 220 million. Our
return on equity jumped from 6.6 to 10.5 per cent. We have not quite achieved our goal, but we have
built up strength to prepare new chapters in our Scandinavian history.

Veidekke is one of Scandinavia’s leading construction and property development companies. We are
the largest in our field in Norway and the fourth largest in Denmark, and we are continuously streng-
thening our presence in the areas surrounding Stockholm and Gothenburg and in Skåne in Sweden.

Developments. Scandinavia’s four
most important growth regions –
Oslo, Stockholm/Mälardalen, the
Gothenburg area and Copenhagen/
Malmö – represent more than half
of the building and construction
market in Scandinavia. Our pre-
sence in these areas puts us in a
favourable position for further
growth, and in a favourable posi-
tion to meet the growing needs of
the public sector.

Flexibility. By consolidating our
presence in Scandinavia, we have
made it possible to transfer capaci-
ty and skills to where growth and
demand are greatest at any time.
This gives us the flexibility as well
as the follow-through to adapt to
new conditions and to grasp new
opportunities.
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Key figures

Profit before Taxation
NOK million

1st quarter:  8 May
2nd quarter: 28 August
3rd quarter: 6 November

• The Annual General Meeting 
will be held on 8 May. 

• The shares will be quoted ex
dividend on 9 May. 

• Dividends will be distributed 
to shareholders on 27 May.

Investor Relations, 
telephone +47 21 05 77 22.

Internett: www.veidekke.no

The Annual Report is 
accessible at www.veidekke.biz

Orders-on Hand
Construction
NOK million

Turnover
NOK million

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 2003
Publication Dates for Interim Reports

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

OPERATIONS *
Turnover 11 254.1 10 561.8 8 005.0 6 486.8 5 645.0
Operating profit 315.8 243.0 263.9 328.3 287.8
Profit before taxation 220.2 135.3 185.0 295.3 282.3
Ordinary profit for the year 1) 142.1 88.0 127.6 203.3 201.4
Orders-on-hand, construction 7 545 7 177 5 833 3 210 2 682

PROFITABILITY
Operating profit margin (%) 2) 2.8 2.3 3.3 5.1 5.1
Gross profit margin (%) 3) 2.0 1.3 2.3 4.6 5.0
Return on total assets (%) 4) 5.5 3.8 5.3 11.5 11.7
Return on working capital (%) 5) 11.5 7.3 10.2 24.5 26.8
Return on equity (%) 6) 10.5 6.6 10.8 20.4 23.1

CAPITAL ADEQUACY *
Total assets 5 222.0 6 307.4 6 427.0 3 565.5 3 213.4
Total shareholders’ equity 7) 1 354.9 1 348.7 1 320.6 1 050.0 944.0
Equity ratio (%) 8) 25.9 21.4 20.5 29.4 29.4
Gross investments 376.7 451.0 1 634.8 526.0 589.7

LIQUIDITY 
Liquidity 31 December * 448.2 474.4 832.0 278.4 369.1
Current ratio 9) 1.06 1.18 1.24 1.05 0.96
Quick ratio 10) 0.72 0.73 0.87 0.68 0.60
Net interest-bearing liabilities 11) -433.8 -1 346.6 -1 319.2 -206.8 -32.4

SHARES **
Market price 31 December 51.00 51.00 57.00 74.50 45.00
Earnings per share (NOK) 12) 4.58 2.58 4.79 8.41 8.10
Market price/earnings (P/E) 11.1 19.8 11.9 8.7 5.4
Cash flow per share (NOK) 13) 17.93 20.26 20.18 19.15 16.78
Market price/cash flow 2.8 2.5 2.8 3.8 2.6
Dividend per share (NOK) 3.50 2.00 2.00 2.75 2.50
Outstanding shares (average million) 27.1 26.9 25.2 22.8 22.8

EMPLOYEES
Average number of employees in 
Scandinavian countries 6 449 6 353 5 021 4 175 4 077
Absence (%) *** 6.9 6.4 6.1 5.2 4.9
Absence hourly paid employees (%) 8.8 8.5 7.9 6.7 6.1
Lost-time injuries per million man-hours 9.0 12.3 11.8 9.4 11.9
Wages and social benefits * 2 537 2 437 1 950 1 556 1 375

* Figures in NOK million
** The figures have been adjusted for the share split (1:2) in 2000
***  Norway only
For definitions, see page 42

Financial information about Veidekke may also be obtained at
www.huginonline.no/VEI
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This is Veidekke

Veidekke is a leading Scandinavian player in three
main business areas: construction, property and
industry. Construction comprises building and heavy
construction, plus rehabilitation and special pro-
jects. Property covers development of residential
and non-residential property for Veidekke’s own
account. Industry includes asphalt, crushed stone
and gravel operations and recycling.

Objectives

Our overall ambition is clear. We will continue to develop our position as one of the leading

construction and property development companies in Scandinavia. In addition to this, we

have set targets for financial results and for health, safety and environment (HSE):

• We will achieve a return on equity capital of 20 per cent, which indicates a profit 

margin of 4 per cent

• We will work towards a sickness absence rate of less than 5 per cent

• For lost-time injuries, our long-term goal is an injury-free workplace. 

Our short-term goal is an injury rate of less than 5 lost-time injuries per million 

man-hours by the end of 2003. 

• We will contribute in practice to sustainable development.

Vision

We will build a better future for people in all aspects of life.

Business concept

We create value through designing, building and managing structures in partnership with 

customers who inspire growth and development.

Pledge to our customers

We will build in partnership, think innovatively and create value.

Basic values

Four qualities will be characteristic of all employees at Veidekke: professional, honest, 

enthusiastic and ground-breaking.

Turnover

1 Norway 69%
2 Denmark 18%
3 Sweden 11%
4 Other countries 2%

1

2

3
4
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Consolidated our position as a Scandinavian company
• Norway Turnover NOK 7,796 million
• Denmark Turnover NOK 1,972 million
• Sweden Turnover NOK 1,220 million

Pre-tax profit NOK 220 million

Earnings per share up from NOK 2.58 to NOK 4.58

Financial standing considerably stronger
• Net interest-bearing liabilities reduced from NOK 1,347 million to NOK 434 million
• Equity ratio increased from 21.4% to 25.9%

Fuller order books
• NOK 7.5 billion at the end of the year, as against NOK 7.2 billion a year earlier

Greater concentration on core business
• The business areas weather protection and Bautas plant hire sold

Stronger position in Sweden’s three growth areas
• Acquired operations in Skåne
• Awarded major road contract north of Stockholm
• Operations in Gothenburg progressing well

Started winding up international project operations

The Year 2002
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Priorities 2003

The level of building and heavy construction activity
remains high in the Scandinavian countries.
However, there was a falling tendency toward the
end of last year and the market is characterised by
uncertainty. 

Veidekke is well placed to meet these challenges thanks to

• A solid, qualitatively good volume of orders-on-hand

• A motivated organisation with the focus on projects, operations and earnings

• A very strong financial position

• A limited degree of exposure to risk in the property division

Our primary objective is to continue to develop Veidekke in its role as a leading

Scandinavian contractor and property developer. Our financial targets are a return on equity

of at least 15 per cent in 2003 and 20 per cent on the long term, and an equity ratio of at

least 25 per cent.

The main elements of our strategy for 2003 are

• Profitability before growth

• Continued focus on operations and project performance

• Maintain requirements regarding margins on new projects

• Controlled risk and cost control in all units 

• Cautious use of capital

• Customer and partner orientation at all levels of the organisation

Value is created at Veidekke through the thousand and more projects that are in progress

at any time. We have developed these projects in partnership with our customers or we

have been awarded them in competition with other companies, and they include a large

number of property development projects for Veidekke’s own account.

The most important challenge is to secure that the customer and Veidekke have the same

goals for the project, agree on how it is to be carried out and have the same expectations

of the finished product. This ensures that the customer gets the product it wants and

Veidekke gets the chance to carry out a project it can be proud of, as regards both quality

and profitability.
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Letter from the CEO

At Veidekke we attach a great deal of importance to being a Scandinavian con-
struction and property development company, because we believe that this makes
us a better supplier for our customers. Not only does it give us a broader profes-
sional platform, but it also means that our skills can be used where the customer
needs them. With our latest acquisition in Skåne in Sweden, we are now well
positioned in all of Scandinavia’s growth markets.

Although it is uncertain how the economy will develop in the time ahead, we feel
that the year 2002 went a long way towards improving our possibilities of further
development. Veidekke’s overall results were satisfactory, but perhaps the most
important factor for the Group is our ability to meet a more demanding market
with well-filled order books and significantly reduced liabilities.

By and large we accomplished our priority tasks for 2002. However, we still have
some challenges to deal with. More detailed reports of the results achieved by the
different divisions are given elsewhere in this annual report, so I will just take this
opportunity to applaud Construction Norway for its substantial upturn in profits and
at the same time applaud both Veidekke Property and Veidekke Industry for fulfill-
ing profit expectations in a tighter market. Our overall results in Sweden were not
as good as we had wished, but seen in isolation our operations in Gothenburg are
progressing very well. In Denmark, due to the late start of projects and some mis-
directed priorities, volume was also lower than expected and costs were conse-
quently too high.

Increase in profitability and a more proactive dividend policy
After several years of broad expansion, the most important task ahead of us now
is to improve profitability. This is a challenge in a somewhat weaker market, but
nonetheless a necessity. It has been Veidekke’s tradition to be one of the most
profitable major contractors in Norway and, in view of the results our competitors
have achieved in the past two years, profitability is clearly also required by their
owners. Thus, with a generally high volume of orders-on-hand in practically every
part of the Group and a substantial reduction in liabilities, we see many opportu-
nities ahead of us.

In light of these ambitions for our further development, the Board of Directors
recommends a more proactive dividend policy from now on. Fewer liabilities, a
satisfactory cash flow and future growth that is primarily organic will mean fewer
capital requirements. The Board recommends distributing a dividend of NOK 3.50
per share for 2002, while aiming for a pay-out ratio of at least 50 per cent in the
future. We in management hope that this will increase the interest in Veidekke’s
shares and thus the interest in Veidekke as a good investment.

Scandinavia – a market with clear growth areas
Veidekke has nation-wide operations in Norway and Denmark, whereas in Sweden
we have concentrated on developments around the cities of Stockholm,
Gothenburg and Malmö. This is mainly because the regions around these cities
have been by far the greatest growth areas for building, construction and property
development in Sweden. We believe this gives us the marketing basis we need to
develop Veidekke into one of the leading contractors in Scandinavia and hopefully
the most profitable.

SCANDINAVIAN
STRENGTH
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Letter from the CEO

The Norwegian Competition Authority
In 2002 and at the beginning of this year, there have been negative reports in the
media of a possible breach of the competition laws by the players in the asphalt
and heavy construction industries in Norway. Veidekke takes a very serious view
of this matter. Throughout the process, we have sought to cooperate in the best
possible way first with the Competition Authority and then with Økokrim (Norway’s
commercial crime unit), in order to help to clarify this matter as quickly as pos-
sible. At the time of writing, we know very little about the specific circumstances
that might include Veidekke, but now that the matter has been handed over to
Økokrim, we will have more access to the material submitted by the Competition
Authority. Our first priority is to make ourselves familiar with the case and then 
follow it up in the best possible way. 

Violations of legislation and regulations are not accepted at Veidekke. We have
therefore been working on ethics and basic values for many years, in order to cre-
ate attitudes and behaviour in line with our values and relevant rules and regula-
tions. We have also initiated the updating of a programme to promote understand-
ing of the competition laws throughout the Group.

We will not predict what the outcome of this work may be, but it is difficult in a
large, decentralised organisation like Veidekke to claim that an error could not have
been made in relation to the laws in question here. Should any irregularities be
revealed, we will naturally deal with these.

Prospects
It is always difficult to foresee the future, particularly in times like these. As regards
the Scandinavian construction and property markets, there is reason to expect a
certain decline, albeit from a high level. The weak market for non-residential pro-
perty will probably continue to affect the situation for some time to come, but we
hope that the public sector’s requirements for both building and heavy construc-
tion will compensate for much of this. It will also be extremely interesting to see
how the housing market develops throughout Scandinavia. In a weaker market,
the challenge will be to choose the right projects with the lowest possible risk in
relation to the market. Veidekke has managed to achieve this difficult balance so
far. With our present portfolio, it should be possible for us to continue to maintain
control in the time ahead.

Veidekke’s order books, totalling NOK 7.5 billion at the beginning of 2003, are 
healthy, and orders are also of the right quality. This, along with our much impro-
ved debt situation, puts us in a very strong position in a somewhat tighter market.

Terje R. Venold
President and CEO

“Veidekke is well
positioned in 
all Scandinavian
countries”

“Our market position
provides a good basis
for further develop-
ment”



ON OUR WAY IN SWEDEN
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COMPETITIVE THRUST The road skirting Uppsala has long been a 
dreaded bottleneck for travellers on the E4 north of Stockholm.
However, work is now underway on a seventy-eight kilometre-long 
new motorway bypassing Uppsala. Thirty-four of these kilometres will
be built by Veidekke as a 50/50 joint venture with Swedish Vägverket
Produktion. This project represents a solid breakthrough for Veidekke 
in Sweden and is proof of the strong position the company has built 
up in Scandinavia.

The Uppsala bypass on the E4 motorway is the largest
road project Veidekke has ever worked on. This contract
is a measure of the quantum leap Veidekke has taken to
become one of the largest contractors in the Stockholm
region. The public interest in this project has also done a
great deal to increase Veidekke Stockholm AB’s visibility.
Sweden’s then Minister of Trade Björn Rosengren offici-
ated at the ceremony which marked the start of the con-
struction work in September 2002.

The total contract price for the project is approximately
SEK 1.3 billion. Veidekke’s share, 650 million, will be 
divided equally between Veidekke Stockholm AB and
Veidekke’s Norwegian resources. A partnering agree-
ment encourages both the client and the contractor to
find reasonably priced, practical solutions without dimi-
nishing quality. Any savings will be shared between the
parties. This project gives Veidekke in Stockholm the
chance to build up its construction operations in a long-
term perspective. The plan is to open the road to traffic
on 15 October 2007. This will be a red-letter day for the
road users, for the people of Uppsala and for Veidekke.
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BUILDING ON OPENNESS AND TRUST

Partnering is a new form of cooperation that is becoming
increasingly common in Denmark. And here Hoffmann is
at the leading edge. Under a partnering agreement, the
parties must all share the same goals. This is ensured
through incentive arrangements whereby the parties
share both the pain of any cost overruns and the gain if
the project is brought in below budget. This type of con-
tract has proved to be very effective and Hoffmann 
is now working actively to build up knowledge about
partnering both in its own company and throughout
Veidekke.

The extension of Rødovre Centrum will be completed in
October 2004. By then, the shopping area will have been
increased by 20,000 sq.m., and the parking area by
50,000 sq.m. The contract price is DKK 352 million.
Hoffmann has also undertaken the rehabilitation of a large
shopping centre at Lyngby outside Copenhagen. At both
Lyngby and Rødovre, Hoffmann will benefit from the
know-how Veidekke has built up in Norway, where it has
been responsible for 80 per cent of all shopping centre
extensions. Equally important is knowing how to make
shopping a pleasure for shoppers and shopkeepers alike.

KNOW-HOW Rødovre Centrum near Copenhagen is one of Denmark’s
largest shopping centres. It is about to become even larger, and more
attractive. Veidekke’s Danish subsidiary Hoffmann A/S has been chosen
as the contractor for this extension, not least because its tender was
based on a new type of contract which promotes openness and trust
between client, contractor, architect and consultant engineer. Another
important factor was Veidekke’s experience and expertise in building
and developing shopping centres.
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The new building has been designed to underpin what
we know today promotes good learning. When the first
pupils arrive to start school in autumn 2004, they will find
a different kind of school, a school with more room for
project work and creativity and less room for blackboard
teaching in traditional classes. An example of this is the
arts and crafts room, where the outside wall can be 
opened up to allow outdoor teaching when the weather
permits.

Behind this design lies a long discussion of what was
wanted. Veidekke helped to lay the foundation for this
discussion by arranging a meeting with school authorities
in the county long before tenders were invited for

Oserød. Here emphasis was given to opening up the
process, to thinking totality in cross-disciplinary groups
and to not losing sight of the pupils’ needs. Other meet-
ings were held with local political and administrative 
leaders to promote relevant forms of cross-disciplinary
competition. A new standard was thus established in
Vestfold for collaborative processes and solutions in the
public sector. The more complicated the project, the 
greater the potential gain from interactive models.

All over Scandinavia, the public sector has many unresol-
ved needs. In focusing on innovation and a close dia-
logue with its clients, Veidekke has a clear ambition to
strengthen its position in this growth area.

PROGRESS School buildings are fortunately no longer what they were.
Static, authoritarian designs are now being replaced with flexibility,
openness and participation. The planning and building of Oserød School
at Nøtterøy in the county of Vestfold will be guided by these consider-
ations. This school is an example of how we can create new and better
designs by putting the users – in this case the pupils – first.
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A NEW SCHOOL FOR A NEW ERA 
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Board of Directors’ Report 

Veidekke’s profit for 2002 shows a considerable
improvement on the year before. This is mainly
due to increased profitability in production. 

The company has strengthened its financial position by sel-
ling its weather protection and plant hire operations, and the-
reby also sharpened its focus on core business.

GROUP DEVELOPMENTS

The Group’s total pre-tax profit for 2002 was NOK 220.2 milli-
on, as against NOK 135.3 million in 2001. Total turnover for
2002 was NOK 11,254 million, compared with NOK 10,562
million in 2001. This gives a growth of 8.5%, after taking into
account the loss of income from Bautas plant hire operations
in the last three months of the year. Orders-on-hand remain
high, rising from NOK 7,177 million at the beginning of 2002
to NOK 7,545 million at 31 December 2002.

One of Veidekke’s primary goals for 2002 was to improve the
profit for the whole Group. Considerable work has gone into
improving margins through closer follow-up of individual pro-
jects and better utilisation of overall resources. This has given
good results, particularly in construction operations in
Norway, which show a considerable improvement in profits.
Although we were aiming higher, the Group’s profit is satis-
factory compared with other Scandinavian players.

An other important goal for 2002 was to strengthen our capi-
tal structure. This was achieved by moderating investments
and selling off operations that lie outside the Group’s core
business areas which are construction and property develop-
ment. The sale of our plant hire and weather protection ope-
rations released approximately NOK 800 million in capital. At
the end of the year, the Group had net interest-bearing liabi-
lities of NOK 434 million, compared with NOK 1,347 million
at the end of the previous year. The relationship between net
interest-bearing liabilities and shareholders’ equity (gearing)
was 32% (100% in 2001), while the equity ratio was 25.9%
(21.4%). The company thus has a sound financial position 

and has achieved the targets set up in this area, which are an
equity ratio of about 25% and a gearing of maximum 70%
calculated at the end of the year.

In light of this, the Board of Directors has resolved to pro-
pose amendments to the company’s dividend policy.
Veidekke’s payout ratio has traditionally been in the region of
30 to 40%. We now wish to increase this to a minimum of
50%. The Board of Directors will therefore propose a divi-
dend of NOK 3.50 for 2002.

Veidekke had a major breakthrough in Sweden in 2002. In
Stockholm, Veidekke and the Swedish Vägverket Produktion
won a contract for SEK 1,350 million for the building of 34
km of motorway skirting Uppsala north of Stockholm. The
work will stretch over five years. By cooperating with both
Vägverket Produktion and Veidekke’s Norwegian resources,
our Stockholm company will have a reasonable volume of
work and at the same time limit its exposure to risk. In the
third quarter, Veidekke acquired Lennart Knutsson’s opera-
tions in Skåne. Veidekke now has a favourable market posi-
tion in all three of Sweden’s most important growth regions
and has thus strengthened its position as a Scandinavian 
contractor and property developer. However, the figures for
Sweden as a whole still reflect start-up costs and weak 
earnings in Stockholm.

The overall profits for property development were in line with
expectations, in spite of a decline in activity in the latter part
of the year. This is a reflection of a generally weaker econo-
mic trend at home and abroad. Activity in non-residential pro-
perty was very low in all three Scandinavian markets through-
out 2002 and in the second half of the year sales of dwel-
lings also fell back. The prices of dwellings remained stable
throughout the year. Veidekke’s largest property development
project at present is the Sjølyststranda project in Oslo, on the
former location of Norway Trade Fairs, where Veidekke and
OBOS are planning to build approximately 470 dwellings and
non-residential property totalling 40,000 square metres.

Christian Bruusgaard

Chairman of the Board
Partner in law firm
Thommesen Krefting
Greve Lund AS

Ole T. Krogsgaard

Director
OTK Holding A/S

ONE OF OUR 
FIRST PRIORITIES
IN 2002 WAS TO
IMPROVE PROFITS
THROUGHOUT THE
GROUP
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Profit Margin
%

Board of Directors’ Report 

Instead of making a positive contribution to profits, work on the Bujagali hydro-
power project in Uganda reduced them by a total of NOK 35 million in provision for
outstanding claims on contractual preparatory work and restructuring costs in the
third quarter 2002. This is the main reason for the very negative results for the year
in the Special Projects Division. Veidekke has resolved not to enter into any new
contracts for major projects outside the Nordic countries. 

The Norwegian Competition Authority has instigated an enquiry into the possible
breach of the competition laws by the largest asphalt and heavy construction con-
tractors in Norway. In June 2002, the Competition Authority referred the case rela-
ting to asphalt operations to the appropriate prosecution authorities for further 
investigation. The Competition Authority has not completed its investigations into
heavy construction operations. The Board of Directors dissociates itself from any
breach of the competition laws and finds it regrettable that the authorities are
taking such a long time to deal with this matter.

Market and Competition 

The economy in the Scandinavian countries declined somewhat in 2002. However,
the level of activity in the building and heavy construction market in Scandinavia
remained fairly high throughout the year. The non-residential property market is
very weak in all three countries. Sales of dwellings were satisfactory during the
first six months, but fell somewhat in the second half of the year.

A relatively high level of activity in building and construction in the public sector
has helped to compensate for some of the decline in the private sector. To utilise
this, Veidekke must show flexibility and the ability to make efficient use of the
Group’s total skills and capacity. The interest in and focus on Public-Private-
Partnerships (PPP) increased in the course of 2002. The central, regional and local
authorities are considering cooperation on development, funding, building, opera-
tion and maintenance of both buildings and road and railway projects. Veidekke has
built up special expertise in this field and believes it will be an interesting market
area in all three Scandinavian countries in the years ahead.

A decision was made in 2002 to organise the Public Roads Administration’s con-
struction activities as a state-owned company. This opens for competition in a mar-
ket totalling more than NOK 5 billion for asphalting, new construction, operation
and maintenance of trunk roads and county roads. Although this market area now
has a new and powerful player, it will also mean new opportunities for Veidekke.
This division between operations and administration has also been made in Finland
and to some extent in Sweden, with positive results.

Håkon Langballe

Director
Norsk Hydro ASA

Peder Chr. Løvenskiold

Managing Director
Anthon B Nilsen AS

Martin Mæland

President and CEO
OBOS

Equity Ratio
%
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Board of Directors’ Report 

There was no significant change in the competitive situation
in 2002. However, most major players posted noticeably
weaker profits in the course of the year. The majority report
healthy order books, but there are considerable variations.

Organisational changes

The management and Board of Directors worked throughout
the year on the reorganisation of the Group’s legal and opera-
tional structure. Their objective was to achieve greater equal-
ity in the handling of the divisions, clearer decision-making
channels and a more uniform group structure. An important
part of this work lay in organising the divisions as separate
limited companies, optimising capital structure and require-
ments regarding return, reducing the number of legal en-
tities, adopting common guidelines and policy, reorganising
staff departments and reducing costs.

The changes came into effect on 1 January 2003.

FINANCIAL SITUATION

Veidekke had a total turnover for 2002 of NOK 11,254 million
(NOK 10,562 million). The Group’s operating profit after
depreciation and amortisation (EBIT) was NOK 315.8 million
(NOK 243.0 million). Total depreciation amounted to NOK
361.2 million, of which NOK 285.5 million were ordinary
depreciation and NOK 75.7 million were total goodwill amorti-
sation.

The Group’s pre-tax profit was NOK 220.2 million (NOK 135.3
million), which gave a profit after tax and minority shares of
NOK 123.9 million (NOK 69.3 million). Earnings per share
were NOK 4.58 (NOK 2.58). Cash flow per share was NOK
17.93 (NOK 20.26) and return on equity was 10.5% (6.6%).

CAPITAL

High priority was given throughout 2002 to reducing the com-
pany’s liabilities. Plant hire operations (Bautas) and weather
protection operations were sold and released NOK 800 mil-
lion in net capital. 

Investments in 2002 totalled NOK 377 million (NOK 451 mil-
lion), where NOK 65.9 million represented acquisitions of
companies. The investment in our 33% share of Ramirent
Oyj was posted at NOK 216 million. Capital tied up in proper-
ty development projects is NOK 1,143 million (NOK 1,204
million). NOK 233.4 million of this figure represents our 50%
share of the Sjølyststranda project. Risk exposure relating to
our property development projects is regarded as acceptable.

Sales of fixed assets brought in NOK 925.0 million (NOK 208.2
million). Net cash flow from operations was NOK 783.8 mil-
lion (NOK 232.2 million).

Net interest-bearing liabilities stood at NOK 434 million (NOK
1,347 million) at the end of the year. The Group’s total assets
fell during the course of the year and amount to NOK 5,222
million (NOK 6,307 million). Total shareholders’ equity was
NOK 1,355 million (NOK 1,349 million), which gives an equity
ratio of 25.9% (21.4%).

At the end of 2002, Veidekke had committed, unused borrow-
ing facilities of NOK 1,164 million (NOK 875 million). The
company’s borrowing facilities are considered to be satisfac-
tory.

With reference to Section 3-3 in the Accounting Act, the
Board of Directors is satisfied that the company has a basis
for continued operations. The going concern assumption has
therefore been applied in preparing the financial statements
for 2002.

BUSINESS AREAS

Construction Norway

This division, which manages Veidekke’s regional building and
construction activities in Norway, showed a considerable
improvement in profit performance.

In 2002, the division achieved a turnover of NOK 4,718 mil-
lion, on a par with the previous year’s figure of NOK 4,841

Hilde Aasheim

Senior Vice President
Elkem ASA

Jan R. Kopstad

Senior Shop Steward (Group)
Employee Representative

Kristian Omsland

Managing Director
OMS Eiendom AS
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million. Its pre-tax profit was NOK 131.0 million (NOK -6.1 million) and its profit
margin 2.8% (-0.1%).

Throughout 2002, the division focused on better management and profitability in
general. Working systematically, it achieved an improvement in profits in virtually
every region and district. For the division as a whole, this has given a noticeable
increase in profit compared with the year before.

Construction Norway signed a number of major building contracts, in the public
and private sectors, in the course of the year. Compensation for a falling market for
non-residential buildings in the Oslo area was found mainly in an increase in activity
in the public sector and in a relatively good development in a number of Veidekke’s
other regions.

At the end of the year, the division’s order books showed a total of NOK 3,548 mil-
lion, compared with NOK 4,089 million a year earlier.

Construction Denmark

Veidekke’s Danish arm, Hoffmann A/S, looks after the Group’s construction opera-
tions in Denmark.

Turnover in Denmark for 2002 showed little change at NOK 1,971 million (NOK
2,094 million). Profit before tax was NOK 9.3 million (NOK 24.3 million). The profit
was pulled down by a loss of NOK 10 million on technical installations contracts
and a provision of NOK 5 million. The resulting profit margin was 0.5% (1.2%).

Technical installations activities have now been limited to electrical installations and
integrated into the building regions. The provision of NOK 5 million was made 
following an accident after the end of a financial year at a velodrome built in 2002
where Hoffmann A/S was principal contractor. Two rafters collapsed and caused
material damage. The final determination of the cause and apportionment of legal
liability will not be done until the conclusions of an independent enquiry are avail-
able. 

In 2002, cross-Scandinavian cooperation included the erection of an office building
for the sum of NOK 250 million in Ørestaden on the outskirts of Copenhagen for
KLP, a Norwegian insurance company. During the first six months of the year,
Hoffmann was awarded a contract worth NOK 250 million by the Norwegian Steen
& Strøm for an extension to Lyngby Storcenter, Denmark’s most visited shopping
centre. 

Earnings per Share
NOK

Steinar Krogstad

Carpenter
Employee Representative

Ove Ågedal

Project Developer
Employee Representative

Göte Dahlin

Director
Alternate Member of the
Board of Directors

Return on Equity
%
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Shopping centres are a priority area for Hoffmann. At the end
of the year, the company signed a contract worth about NOK
350 million for extension work of a shopping centre in
Rødovre.

At the end of the year, Hoffmann’s orders-on-hand stood at
NOK 1,763 million, compared with NOK 1,345 million the pre-
vious year. This is an increase of 31%.

Construction Sweden

This division is made up of subsidiaries Veidekke
Construction AB (Vecon) in Gothenburg and Veidekke
Stockholm AB and the companies in Veidekke Skåne. 

Founded in 1998, Vecon is growing according to plan and
reporting profit figures on a level with the Group’s financial
objectives. Veidekke Stockholm AB went into operation in
2001. It has not achieved the anticipated results. The final
prognoses for a number of projects that were contracted in
the initial phase have been adjusted downwards and the high
costs of preparing tenders for several major projects have
also had a negative effect on profits. However, the order
books are satisfactory and turnover for 2003 is now secured.
The prospects for our recently acquired operations in Skåne
are also good. 

Turnover in Sweden totalled NOK 768 million (NOK 361 mil-
lion), giving a loss of NOK 19.2 million (NOK –8.7 million). 

At 31 December 2002, orders-on-hand for Construction
Sweden totalled NOK 1,076 million. This does not include
orders amounting to NOK 313 million for the Norwegian
Special Projects division in Sweden. These and Veidekke’s
stronger position in the Swedish market provide a good basis
for better profitability in 2003. The main challenges ahead are
to increase profitability on the projects in the Stockholm ope-
rations and to achieve controlled growth in Skåne.

Special Projects

The main focus of this division was on large complex heavy
construction and industrial projects in Scandinavia and inter-
national operations.

Special Projects showed a turnover for 2002 of NOK 1,202
million (NOK 732 million) and a pre-tax loss of NOK 52.2 mil-
lion (NOK –27.1 million). This negative figure is mainly due to
write-downs of Veidekke’s share of the Bujagali hydropower
project in Uganda and sums set aside for the work of reorga-
nising the division, all totalling NOK 35 million, and the loss of
the volume and earnings Bujagali would have represented.

The heavy construction market in Norway did not develop in
line with Veidekke’s assumptions, but has nevertheless
shown some growth. Land-based oil and gas projects have 

provided some new contracts and the division has a number
of large tenders awaiting clarification.

Veidekke submitted a tender for the first major Public-Private-
Partnership (PPP) project for a new trunk road in the county
of Sør-Trøndelag. Substantial resources were invested in ten-
der preparation, and this has given Veidekke valuable experi-
ence, which can be used in the further development of PPP
projects.

At the end of the year, the division had orders-on-hand total-
ling NOK 1,158 million (NOK 1,107 million), of which opera-
tions in Sweden represented NOK 313 million (NOK 93 mil-
lion).

Effective from 1 January 2003, Special Projects has been
incorporated as a unit in Veidekke Entreprenør AS and will be
part of Veidekke’s collective heavy construction operations in
Norway. The unit will also continue to participate in Scandi-
navian heavy construction projects. These projects will by
preference be carried out as joint ventures with Veidekke’s
local branches. The unit’s prospects for 2003 are considered
to be good.

Property

This division is engaged in the development of residential and
non-residential projects for Veidekke’s own account in
Norway, Sweden and Denmark. The turnover for 2002 was
NOK 1,033 million (NOK 857 million). Profit before tax was
NOK 75.6 million (NOK 110.0 million).

The market showed a downward trend throughout 2002. This
applied in particular to the market for rented non-residential
property. There was a noticeable decline in the rent level and
demand in Oslo and Stockholm. We still have a low vacancy
rate in our existing portfolio, but in view of the weak market
building has not been commenced on any new projects.

While house prices remained relatively stable in Scandinavia
throughout the year, sales of new dwellings slowed down
considerably. This is pushing up the number of our and our
competitors’ unsold, completed dwellings.

Obtaining planning permission for new building projects is
still a difficult and time-consuming process. This is further
complicated in Norway by the local authorities, who wish to
an increasing degree to charge costs of schools, day-care
centres, etc. to development projects. As a result of this,
more and more projects are becoming unprofitable.

Our largest project is Sjølyststranda at Skøyen in Oslo. We
took over this project with OBOS on 1 August 2002. We
have now obtained planning permission and the marketing of
the first 104 dwellings of a total of about 470 is now under
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way. If advance sales are satisfactory, building will start during the first six months
of 2003. The office part of the project will probably not be commenced in 2003 in
light of the weak demand.

At the end of 2002, Veidekke had 570 (680) dwellings under construction for its
own account. Of these, 450 have been sold (460). The company had 40 (0) com-
pleted, unsold dwellings at the end of the year.

Industry

The Industry Division covers two business areas: Asphalt and aggregates (Kolo
Veidekke a.s) and Recycling (Veidekke Gjenvinning AS). Weather protection was
also part of this division for the first three months of 2002, as was Bautas plant
hire until the end of the third quarter. 

Industry had a turnover for 2002 of NOK 2,044 million (NOK 2,416 million), giving a
pre-tax profit of NOK 85.0 million (NOK 61.0 million). This figure includes a gain of
NOK 30 million on the sale of Bautas.

Turnover for Kolo Veidekke a.s, which is responsible for the production of asphalt,
crushed stone and gravel, amounted to NOK 1,076 million in 2002 (NOK 1,108 mil-
lion). The asphalt volume in Norway was the lowest for many years, but Kolo
Veidekke achieved a satisfactory financial result through good management.

Veidekke Gjenvinning had a turnover of NOK 299 million (NOK 241 million) and has
expanded its activities in the field of industrial waste in the counties of Rogaland
and Vestfold. 

Bautas plant hire had a turnover of NOK 654 million for the first nine months of the
year (NOK 767 million for the whole of 2001). The sale of Bautas to the Finnish
listed company Ramirent Oyj took effect on 30 September 2002. Veidekke owns
33% of the shares in Ramirent Oyj.

Veidekke’s operations in the field of weather protection (Nordic Shelter Solutions)
were sold to a Finnish company, NSS Group Oy, on 31 March 2002. Veidekke
owns 30% of the shares in NSS Group Oy.

ORGANISATIONAL AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

In 2002, the Group had an average of 6,449 employees (6,353) in Scandinavia. Of
these, 4,127 (4,129) were craftsmen and production workers and 2,322 (2,224)
were administrative and technical personnel. In 2002, Veidekke had 144 persons
(150) on apprenticeship contracts in its building, construction and asphalt opera-
tions in Norway. 

About 11% of Veidekke’s employees are women. Increasing the percentage of
women is a major challenge in the building and construction industry. We are 
therefore glad to see that more women are entering educational institutions that
are relevant for our industry. Veidekke works actively to recruit women and, as the
number of graduates increases, we hope it will also be possible to find qualified
candidates for executive positions among them.

Veidekke’s on-site learning project continues to make an important contribution to
our recruitment of skilled workers. Here, Veidekke cooperates with the building
industry, the public employment services and schools in providing an alternative
form of vocational education closely combined with training on the building site.

Average Number of Employees 
in Scandinavia
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HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT

In Veidekke’s Norwegian operations, the injury rate (lost-time
injuries per million man-hours) fell again in the fourth quarter.
For 2002, the injury rate was 9, as against 12 in 2001. Steady
improvements were seen in our East and North-West
Regions throughout 2002. The injury rate is higher in our
other Scandinavian operations than it is in Norway, and parti-
cularly so in Denmark. More attention will be given to these
operations and ongoing measures will be continuously evalu-
ated in the time ahead.

Sickness absence is rising again in Norway. Sickness absen-
ce among our craftsmen rose from 8.5% in 2001 to 8.8% in
2002. Sickness absence for all employees was 6.9% in 2002,
compared with 6.4% the year before. The greatest increase
was in traditional building trades, and was particularly notice-
able in central parts of East Norway. Sickness absence in our
other Scandinavian operations is virtually unchanged and very
low.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT

Veidekke views environmental protection as a major chal-
lenge throughout the life of the product - from planning,
designing and production through management, operation
and maintenance to demolition, segregation and recycling.
Veidekke will contribute to sustainable development by inte-
grating environmental considerations into its day-to-day ope-
rations. This includes minimising and managing the pollution
and waste generated by Veidekke itself and measures to
recover resources from waste. Consideration for the environ-
ment is incorporated in the company’s quality system.

The Board of Directors refers to a more detailed presentation
on pages 64 and 65 of this Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND SOCIAL 

RESPONSIBILITY

Veidekke is a highly decentralised organisation with a high
degree of local presence, which allows it to look after custo-
mers’ needs and to ensure capability and creation of value in
the different projects. Veidekke is involved in more than one
thousand ongoing projects at any time, which normally last
from three to fifteen months. One of the main objectives of
the Group’s management systems is to ensure control and
oversight. This is achieved by detailed, systematic reporting
for each project through the line management to the corpo-
rate management and Board of Directors. Reports are sub-
mitted ten times a year and deal with financial and non-finan-
cial matters. The profitability and risk involved in each project
are central financial parameters. 

Social responsibility is embedded in Veidekke’s values: pro-
fessional, honest, enthusiastic and ground-breaking. Veidekke
sets the focus on human beings, as the users of its buildings.
This is reflected in Veidekke’s vision: “We will build a better
future for people in all aspects of life”. As a construction
company, Veidekke will always give environmental considera-
tions a central place in the work of the company. This applies
to HSE, waste management and other environmental impact. 

Veidekke also looks after the interests of its employees by
working closely with employee representatives. Represen-
tatives are chosen for each project. In Norway, senior repre-
sentatives meet each year at a special conference. 

Veidekke contributes to vocational training in the industry. In
Norway, this is done through its on-site learning project and
by being one of the companies that offers most training op-
portunities for apprentices. Apprenticeship schemes are also
given high priority in Denmark and Sweden. Furthermore,
Veidekke offers extensive in-house training throughout the
whole Group.

SHAREHOLDERS AND STOCK MARKET

Veidekke is mainly owned by financial investors and indepen-
dence from shareholders is therefore not a problem. OBOS,
which holds 17.1% of Veidekke’s shares, is an exception.
Here, independence is assured by making sure that sharehol-
der representation and project cooperation are never handled
by the same persons. The employees as a group have a
shareholding of 16.3%. However, no single employee holds
more than 0.3% of the shares and independence thus pre-
sents no problem.

Veidekke’s shareholders numbered 3,651 (3,737) at the end
of the year. Its largest shareholders besides OBOS
Forretningsbygg (17.1%) are Folketrygdfondet (13.9%), Color
Group (8.2%) and Storebrand Liv (7.1%). Veidekke attaches
great importance to the participation of its employees as 
shareholders. A total of 1,734 employees own shares in the
company (16.3%). 

The price of a Veidekke share varied between NOK 43.00 and
NOK 68.50 in 2002.
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DISTRIBUTION OF THE PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

The accounts for the parent company, Veidekke ASA, show a
profit of NOK 81.6 million (NOK –35.7 million). The Board of
Directors will propose to the Annual General Meeting that
the profit be distributed as follows: 

NOK million

Dividends 95.6
Other equity -14.0
Profit for the year 81.6

The parent company’s distributable reserves amount to 
NOK 788.1 million (NOK 711.8 million).

PROSPECTS

There is considerable uncertainty attached to the outlook for
2003 for the Scandinavian building and construction markets.
Demand seems to have fallen off in the housing market for
the present, and there has been a significant reduction in
new building in the office market in all three Scandinavian
countries. Rising unemployment figures and less growth in
export markets are reflected in a wait-and-see attitude in 
households and in much of the business sector.

As a result, growth estimates for the building and construc-
tion markets in the Scandinavian countries have been adju-

sted downwards. The level of activity is still high, but zero
growth or some decline is expected from last year to this
year. An increase in public building and construction opera-
tions could help to reduce the decline. There are considerable
regional variations and the downturn in the commencement
of dwellings and some types of commercial buildings has
been greatest in the city regions, where we have also seen
most of the upswing in recent years.

The fundamental prerequisites for growth in the Scandinavian
countries are still deemed to be good. If the international
situation does not become dramatically worse, we may see a
gradual increase in GNP growth in the second half of 2003,
followed by a levelling off of unemployment. A lower interest
rate will also help to stimulate investment.

It will also be Veidekke’s strategy in 2003 to concentrate on
core business areas, reduce costs and focus on management
and good project performance. In the current, demanding
market situation, we will be especially vigilant and keep our
eye on developments in all market areas in order to be able
to implement any necessary corrective measures.
Nevertheless, in the company’s strong financial position,
healthy order books and motivated organisation, we see the
basic ingredients for further improvements in profit perfor-
mance.

Oslo, 26 February 2003

Christian Bruusgaard
Chairman of the Board

Martin Mæland

Håkon LangballeJan Kopstad Steinar Krogstad

Peder Chr. Løvenskiold Kristian Omsland

Ove Ågedal Hilde Aasheim Terje R. Venold
President and CEO

Ole T. Krogsgaard
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GROUP Note 2002 2001 2000

(Figures in NOK million)

Turnover 1, 2, 28, 29 11 254.1 10 561.8 8 005.0

Subcontractors -4 415.7 -4 099.5 -3 005.2
Cost of materials -2 778.3 -2 452.4 -1 864.2
Wages 3, 4, 19 ,27 -2 537.4 -2 437.0 -1 949.9
Other operating expenses -845.7 -854.8 -533.9
Depreciation goodwill 6,7 -75.7 -78.9 -69.1
Write-down goodwill - -35.0 -
Other depreciation 7 -285.5 -361.2 -318.8
Total operating costs -10 938.3 -10 318.8 -7 741.1

Operating profit 315.8 243.0 263.9

Profit associated companies 9 3.0 - -

Financial income/expenses 5 -98.6 -107.7 -78.9

Profit before taxation 220.2 135.3 185.0

Taxation 18 -78.1 -47.3 -57.4

Profit for the year 142.1 88.0 127.6

Minority interests’ share 18.2 18.7 7.0

Earnings per share (NOK) 4.58 2.58 4.79
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GROUP

At 31 December Note 2002 2001 2000

(Figures in NOK million)

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Goodwill 6, 7 448.2 584.1 646.4
Buildings/land 7 336.9 339.1 383.7
Machinery, etc. 7 588.9 1 338.2 1 411.0
Investments in associated companies 9 549.6 - -
Long-term receivables, etc. 10, 19 203.0 207.9 213.3
Total fixed assets 2 126.6 2 469.3 2 654.4

Current assets

Non-residential projects 11 246.8 427.2 450.4
Residential projects 12 577.3 776.8 503.2
Stocks 13 170.5 252.7 192.3
Debtors 14 1 547.9 1 829.4 1 721.6
Other short-term receivables 104.7 77.6 73.1
Liquid assets 15 448.2 474.4 832.0
Total current assets 3 095.4 3 838.1 3 772.6

Total assets 5 222.0 6 307.4 6 427.0

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 17 68.3 67.6 66.5
Other shareholders’ equity 1 170.9 1 172.1 1 167.4
Minority interests 115.7 109.0 86.7
Total shareholders’ equity 16 1 354.9 1 348.7 1 320.6

Long-term liabilities

Pension obligations 19 54.7 70.1 65.4
Deferred taxes 18 54.2 136.8 183.8
Debts to credit-issuing institutions, etc. 20 755.3 1 403.4 1 739.0
Other long-term liabilities 77.7 93.4 82.5
Total long-term liabilities 941.9 1 703.7 2 070.7

Current liabilities

Debts to credit-issuing institutions, etc. 21 185.2 442.3 439.0
Creditors 22 1 690.5 1 813.2 1 773.9
Unpaid government charges 23 422.7 471.3 428.8
Payable taxes and dividends 24 186.1 146.0 125.7
Other short-term debts 25 440.7 382.2 268.3
Total short-term liabilities 2 925.2 3 255.0 3 035.7

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 26, 29 5 222.0 6 307.4 6 427.0
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Group Note 30 2002 2001 2000

(Figures in NOK million)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 220.2 135.3 185.0
Tax paid -104.7 -93.5 -80.9
Depreciation 361.2 475.1 387.9
Gain on sale of fixed assets -67.9 -81.6 -43.4
Pensions, difference cost/paid -18.2 23.1 -3.0
Other differences profit/payment - - -2.1
Generated from operating activities 390.6 458.4 443.5

Change in non-residential and residential projects 205.6 -250.4 -234.6
Change in debtors 339.6 -105.9 -26.7
Change in other current assets 71.0 -58.6 19.5
Change in creditors -189.2 34.7 111.0
Change in other operating debts -33.8 154.0 -13.6
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 783.8 232.2 299.1

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plant and equipment -310.8 -412.2 -635.8
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 933.0 215.7 140.3
Purchase of companies -43.3 -21.3 -468.9
Other investments -555.9 5.8 -17.4
Net cash flow from investment activities (B) 23.0 -212.0 -981.8

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

New long-term borrowing 2.6 45.5 1 057.3
Repayments long-term debts -690.0 -387.9 -13.8
New short-term borrowing 186.3 106.6 118.4
Repayments short-term debts -284.9 -109.6 -61.8
Share issue 11.5 18.8 191.2
Addition minority interest - 4.2 7.9
Dividend paid -58.5 -55.4 -62.9
Net cash flow from financing activities (C) -833.0 -377.8 1 236.3

NET CHANGE IN LIQUID ASSETS (A+B+C) -26.2 -357.6 553.6

Liquid assets at 1 January 474.4 832.0 278.4
Liquid assets at 31 December 448.2 474.4 832.0
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CONSOLIDATION 

Consolidated accounts

The consolidated accounts include the parent company, subsidiaries and joint venture operations and give the Group’s
profit/loss and financial position as collective statements. 

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are companies in which Veidekke has a controlling interest. The subsidiaries’ profit and loss accounts and balance
sheets are included in their entirety in the Consolidated Accounts. The minority interests’ share of the profit or loss for the
year and shareholders’ equity is shown as separate items in the accounts.

Shares purchased in subsidiaries are dealt with according to the purchase value method of accounting, by which the cost price
of the shares is set off against the book value of the shareholders’ equity in the subsidiary at the time of purchase. Added or
reduced values resulting from the purchase are assigned to identifiable assets or liabilities. Added value that cannot be assig-
ned to identifiable assets and liabilities is entered in the Balance Sheet as goodwill. Depreciation of added value and goodwill
is entered in the Profit and Loss Account.

Joint ventures

Some of Veidekke’s operations are run as joint ventures with other companies. This applies to building and construction,
asphalt operations and property operations. Veidekke uses the gross method of accounting (proportional consolidation) for joint
venture operations, with the exception of financial investments in property operations where it uses the equity method. When
using the gross method, the relevant proportion of the joint venture account is included and each item in the Profit and Loss
Account and Balance Sheet is incorporated. The acquisition method of accounting is used for the purchase of a share in a joint
venture operation. All internal transactions between the joint venture and other Veidekke entities are eliminated.

A joint venture operation is one in which two or more parties manage the operation together and

• The operation is within the normal operating areas of the partner
• The operation is jointly managed by the partners

Joint venture operations account for part of Veidekke’s overall activities, and Veidekke participates actively in the running of
these ventures. Joint control means that no single partner has a controlling interest and that important decisions are made
together. Joint ventures are run as working partnerships, general partnerships and limited companies. Working partnerships
and general partnerships are included in the parent company’s accounts, while limited companies are consolidated in the
Group accounts.

Associated companies

Associated companies are enterprises in which Veidekke has a substantial interest (normally more than 20 per cent of the 
shares), but which are not subsidiaries or joint ventures. For associated companies and financial investments in property joint
ventures, Veidekke uses the equity method in the consolidated accounts. According to the equity method, investments are
valued as the share of equity capital in the enterprise and the share of the profit is entered as income (profit after taxation).
The share of the profit and the investment are entered as separate items in the Profit and Loss Account and Balance Sheet.
At the time of purchase, the investment is valued at full cost, i.e. including the added or reduced value resulting from the 
purchase. The share of the profit less distributions is added to the investment in the Balance Sheet. When calculating the
share of the profit, depreciation of added value resulting from the purchase and internal gains are taken into account.

Conversion of foreign companies

Balance sheet items relating to foreign companies are converted at the exchange rate applying on the date of the Balance
Sheet, while Profit and Loss Account items are converted at average exchange rates for the year. Conversion differences for
foreign subsidiaries are entered against the Group’s shareholders’ equity, while conversion differences for foreign joint ven-
tures, etc. are entered in the Profit and Loss Account.

Internal transactions

All internal transactions between consolidated units have been eliminated. This applies to internal trading, interest, dividends
and internal gains. It also applies to internal receivables and liabilities, in addition to share and capital investment.

RECORDING INCOME

Projects

Veidekke operates mainly as contractors on projects lasting from a few months to two or three years. Invoicing is done 
monthly (payment net 30 days) and usually as the contract activity progresses. However, other payment plans are sometimes
used.

For projects, income is entered in step with the completion of the work, based on the estimated final profit for the project.
This means that the accumulated share of the estimated final profit is charged to income based on the percentage of comple-
tion. The percentage of completion is equal to accrued costs as a percentage of total estimated costs. In the case of projects
that are expected to show a loss, the estimated loss is entered in its entirety as a cost. Provisions are made for guarantee
work and other uncertainties. The guarantee period is normally three years. Additional claims are entered as income once the
outcome is certain.
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Non-residential projects

Non-residential projects involve the development and construction of non-residential buildings for sale for Veidekke’s own
account. Veidekke acquires land and properties for the development and erection of non-residential buildings. The completed
buildings are sold when an acceptable price can be obtained. This may mean that Veidekke keeps the buildings for a while,
leasing them temporarily until they are sold. Costs incurred on land, buildings under construction and completed buildings are
entered in the Balance Sheet under “Non-residential projects”. Non-residential buildings for Veidekke’s own account are ente-
red as income when they are sold, i.e. when the building is handed over.

Residential projects

Residential projects involve the building of houses for sale for Veidekke’s own account. A housing project consists of many
units and sales take place before, during and after construction of the houses. These projects are entered as income in step
with sales and the construction of the houses, based on the estimated final profit for the project. No income is entered until 
at least 30 per cent of the houses in the project has been sold and built. Provision is made for uncertainty, work under guaran-
tee, etc. In the case of projects that are expected to show a loss, the whole loss is charged to profit. Costs incurred on units
not entered as income and on land for development are entered in the Balance Sheet under “Residential projects”.

Sales of fixed assets

Gains on sales of machinery, buildings and other fixed assets are entered as turnover.

OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Pensions

Veidekke has both defined-benefit pension schemes and defined-contribution pension schemes for its employees. Employees’
pension rights under the defined-benefit pension schemes are charged to expenses as they are earned and net pension com-
mitments/pension funds are entered in the Balance Sheet. An actuarial calculation is made annually of pension expenses and
pension commitments, taking into account anticipated wage growth based on linear accumulation. “Pension funds” includes
premium funds and Veidekke’s share of the insurance company’s funds (premium reserves). “Pension expenses” includes the
present value of the year’s pension earnings, plus interest on commitments, less return on pension funds.

For the defined-contribution pension schemes the contributions are charged to expenses as they are paid. No commitments
are entered in the Balance Sheet for these schemes. 

Taxes

This year’s tax expenses consist of payable tax and change in deferred tax. Payable tax is fixed on the basis of the year’s
taxable profit. Deferred tax is a provision for future payable tax, calculated on timing differences between accounts and tax.
The reason why timing differences arise is that some of the items in the Profit and Loss Account are treated differently for
accounting purposes and for tax purposes. Deferred tax is calculated in nominal amounts.

Depreciation

Depreciation is based on the economic life of the fixed assets.

Development costs

Costs relating to research and development of technology are charged to expenses.

Receivables and debts

Receivables and debts that relate to production are classified as current assets and short-term liabilities. Debts to credit-
issuing institutions etc. which are taken up to finance fixed assets (investments) are classified as long-term liabilities, while
loans taken up to finance working capital (current assets) are classified as short-term liabilities. Other receivables and debts
which are not due for more than a year, are classified as fixed assets and long-term liabilities. Receivables are entered in the
Balance Sheet at their nominal value less provision for bad debts. Receivables and debts in foreign currency are converted at
the exchange rate on the date of the Balance Sheet.

Stocks

Stocks are assessed at full cost price or net realisable value, whichever is lower.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

With effect from 1 January 2002, Veidekke has split its investments in property joint ventures into two categories: operational
investments and financial investments. Financial investments are entered in the accounts using the equity method, while 
operational investments are entered using the gross method (proportional consolidation) as before. This change in accounting
policy has little bearing on earlier years and no comparable figures have been calculated.
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Notes to the Accounts
(Figures in tables in NOK million)

1. Segment Analysis

Construction Norway                  Construction Denmark                Construction Sweden

Profit and Loss Account 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Turnover 4 717.9 4 840.8 4 187.3 1 970.8 2 094.2 525.3 768.2 361.2 166.3 
Operating costs -4 572.7 -4 788.7 -4 066.6 -1 934.9 -2 034.0 -502.3 -780.6 -371.9 -167.9 
Depreciation -54.8 -90.0 -36.4 -25.8 -34.0 -9.6 -5.3 - - 
Operating profit 90.4 -37.9 84.3 10.1 26.2 13.4 -17.7 -10.7 -1.6 
Profit associated companies 0.2 - - 0.8 - - - - - 
Net financial items 40.4 31.8 13.2 -1.6 -1.9 0.5 -1.5 2.0 - 
Profit before taxation 131.0 -6.1 97.5 9.3 24.3 13.9 -19.2 -8.7 -1.6 

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Fixed assets 364.7 448.4 540.0 205.0 225.4 252.4 37.7 2.7 1.2
Current assets 632.6 919.5 771.7 580.4 597.1 541.2 113.5 43.5 29.9
Liquid assets 747.8 435.0 279.9 76.1 112.5 258.3 39.1 84.5 68.0
Total assets 1 745.1 1 802.9 1 591.6 861.5 935.0 1 051.9 190.3 130.7 99.1
Shareholders’ equity 293.3 140.1 134.7 108.9 132.7 108.1 -28.8 20.2 22.0
Long-term liabilities 107.5 107.6 126.9 284.3 304.7 341.4 17.3 7.4 2.8
Short-term liabilities 1 344.3 1 555.2 1 330.0 468.3 497.6 602.4 201.8 103.1 74.3
Total shareholders’ equity 

and liabilities 1 745.1 1 802.9 1 591.6 861.5 935.0 1 051.9 190.3 130.7 99.1
Gross investments 23.7 42.1 249.2 17.7 29.2 261.3 40.4 - -

Special Projects Property Industry

Profit and Loss Account 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Turnover 1 201.8 732.4 947.1 1 033.4 856.5 186.1 2 043.7 2 416.0 2 268.3
Operating costs -1 189.2 -681.7 -874.9 -900.2 -702.0 -122.0 -1 673.7 -1 984.0 -1 863.2
Depreciation -45.7 -60.5 -58.0 -8.0 -8.5 -7.8 -210.4 -277.5 -264.4
Operating profit -33.1 -9.8 14.2 125.2 146.0 56.3 159.6 154.5 140.7
Profit associated companies - - - -2.6 - - 4.6 - -
Net financial items -19.1 -17.3 -11.1 -47.0 -36.0 -26.0 -79.2 -93.5 -90.5
Profit before taxation -52.2 -27.1 3.1 75.6 110.0 30.3 85.0 61.0 50.2

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Fixed assets 175.0 129.7 152.0 394.5 81.7 122.8 831.1 1 442.3 1 436.7
Current assets 393.0 140.9 244.6 1 038.6 1 486.4 947.1 242.8 509.0 490.8
Liquid assets - - - - - - - - -
Total assets 568.0 270.6 396.6 1 433.1 1 568.1 1 069.9 1 073.9 1 951.3 1 927.5
Shareholders’ equity 25.5 7.5 29.7 446.4 324.3 267.4 373.8 412.1 375.6
Long-term liabilities 284.5 122.2 245.3 517.9 532.7 259.2 418.0 1 163.2 1 145.8
Short-term liabilities 258.0 140.9 121.6 468.8 711.1 543.3 282.1 376.0 406.1
Total shareholders’ equity 

and liabilities 568.0 270.6 396.6 1 433.1 1 568.1 1 069.9 1 073.9 1 951.3 1 927.5
Gross investments 45.9 38.4 167.4 1.2 1.2 27.8 243.8 340.1 929.1

Other Activities/Eliminations Group

Profit and Loss Account  2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Turnover -481.7 -739.3 -275.4 11 254.1 10 561.8 8 005.0
Operating costs 474.2 718.6 243.7 -10 577.1 -9 843.7 -7 353.2
Depreciation -11.2 -4.6 -11.7 -361.2 -475.1 -387.9
Operating profit -18.7 -25.3 -43.4 315.8 243.0 263.9
Profit associated companies - - - 3.0 - -
Net financial items 9.4 7.2 35.0 -98.6 -107.7 -78.9
Profit before taxation -9.3 -18.1 -8.4 220.2 135.3 185.0

Balance Sheet at 31 December

Fixed assets 118.6 139.1 149.3 2 126.6 2 469.3 2 654.4
Current assets -353.7 -332.7 -84.7 2 647.2 3 363.7 2 940.6
Liquid assets -414.8 -157.6 225.8 448.2 474.4 832.0
Total assets -649.9 -351.2 290.4 5 222.0 6 307.4 6 427.0
Shareholders’ equity 135.8 311.8 383.1 1 354.9 1 348.7 1 320.6
Long-term liabilities -687.6 -534.1 -50.7 941.9 1 703.7 2 070.7
Short-term liabilities -98.1 -128.9 -42.0 2 925.2 3 255.0 3 035.7
Total shareholders’ equity 

and liabilities -649.9 -351.2 290.4 5 222.0 6 307.4 6 427.0
Gross investments 4.0 - - 376.7 451.0 1 634.8
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Notes to the Accounts

Criteria for division of areas of activity

The areas of activity are divided into business areas, each of
which has risks and earnings different from the others. This
conforms to the grouping Veidekke uses for internal control
and reporting purposes.

Presentation of areas of activity

The effect on profit of cash flow from the projects constitu-
tes a substantial part of net financial items. For that reason,
the pre-tax profit or loss gives a more correct picture for the
earnings of the areas of activity than the operating profit or
loss does. Financial items and the pre-tax profit or loss are
therefore shown in addition to the operating profit or loss,
and complete Balance Sheets are also given for each area 
of activity.

Sharing of items that are not directly assignable

Costs that are not directly assignable are shared in propor-
tion to turnover. Shareholders’ equity, liquid assets and 
interest-bearing liabilities are shared in proportion to total
assets.

Non-distributed items

Some Group costs are not shared between the areas of 
activity. The same applies to a number of financial items.
Non-distributed items are shown under “Other activities/
Elimination”.

Inter-divisional transactions

There are relatively few sales between the divisions, but
some contracts are carried out jointly by different entities.
Internal sales and collaboration take place on commercial
terms.

Distribution of turnover by geographical market

NOK 3,458 million (NOK 3,382 million in 2001 and NOK
1,481 million in 2000) of the Group’s total turnover derives
from operations outside Norway. International operations
thus represent 31% (32% in 2001 and 19% in 2000) of the
Group’s total turnover.

Construction Norway Construction Denmark Construction Sweden Special Projects

2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Norway 4 717.9 4 840.8 4 187.3 - - - - - - 812.7 384.3 628.5
Rest of 
Scandinavia - - - 1 970.8 2 094.2 525.3 768.2 361.2 166.3 190.5 170.1 75.6
Africa - - - - - - - - - 193.1 172.1 236.5
Other countries - - - - - - - - - 5.5 5.9 6.5
Total 4 717.9 4 840.8 4 187.3 1 970.8 2 094.2 525.3 768.2 361.2 166.3 1 201.8 732.4 947.1

Other activities/
Property Industry Eliminations Group

2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Norway 926.0 813.3 174.9 1 884.0 1 943.2 1 823.3 -544.4 -802.1 -290.1 7 796.2 7 179.5 6 523.9
Rest of 
Scandinavia 107.4 43.2 11.2 154.9 472.8 445.0 - - - 3 191.8 3 141.5 1 223.4
Africa - - - - - - 62.7 62.8 14.7 255.8 234.9 251.2
Other countries - - - 4.8 - - - - - 10.3 5.9 6.5
Total 1 033.4 856.5 186.1 2 043.7 2 416.0 2 268.3 -481.7 -739.3 -275.4 11 254.1 10 561.8 8 005.0

Construction Norway Construction Denmark               Construction Sweden Special Projects

2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000 2002 2001 2000

Total 3 548 4 089 3 615 1 763 1 345 1 209 1 076 636 157 1 158 1 107 852
Of which due 
for completion 
within 12 months 3 232 3 399 3 011 1 557 1 215 1 055 748 513 157 579 672 459

Group

Orders-on-hand 2002 2001 2000

Total 7 545 7 177 5 833
Of which due 
for completion 
within 12 months 6 116 5 799 4 682

Turnover

Orders-on-hand
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2. Gains on Sales of Fixed Assets

2002 2001 2000

Buildings, land 1.3 31.1 3.4
Machinery, etc. 31.4 43.0 12.4
Operations 35.2 7.5 27.6
Total gains on sales 67.9 81.6 43.4

Gains on sales of fixed assets etc. are included in Turnover. Sales of operations in 2002 refer to Bautas and weather protec-
tion operations. Sales of operations in 2000 refer to ready-mix concrete operations.

3. Number of Employees

Average number of employees 2002 2001 2000

Scandinavia 6 449 6 353 5 021
Africa 578 638 810
Total 7 027 6 991 5 831

Number of employees at 31 December 2002 2001

Scandinavia 5 909 6 269
Africa 518 564
Total 6 427 6 833

4. Shares to Employees
2002 2001 2000

Shares sold to employees (number of shares) 249 000 125 187 126 000
Share issue, employees (number of shares) 270 000 449 081
Discount to employees on issue 1.1 4.5
Contribution to foundation 0.2 0.5 1.4

Veidekke has established a foundation, which purchases Veidekke shares in the market and resells them to the employees.
Veidekke pays a contribution to the foundation and this is charged to the Profit and Loss Account. As of 2002, Veidekke has
granted loans amounting to NOK 75.4 million to members of the corporate management and key personnel for the purchase
of shares in Veidekke (about 300 persons). These loans are partly interest-free and secured by mortgages on the shares. 

In 2001 and 2002 Veidekke effected share issues directed at its employees. The discount given on these issues has not been
charged to the Profit and Loss Account.

Notes to the Accounts

5. Financial Income and Financial Expenses

2002 2001 2000

Interest received 161.3 127.9 53.1
Other financial income 46.3 46.5 13.2
Financial income 207.6 174.4 66.3

Interest charges -271.6 -241.3 -140.9
Other financial expenses -34.6 -40.8 -4.3
Financial expenses -306.2 -282.1 -145.2

Financial income/financial expenses -98.6 -107.7 -78.9

6. Goodwill 2002

Book value at

Purchase of operations Depreciation 31 December

Hoffmann 8.7 85.0
Br. Reme 6.9 67.4
Block Berge Bygg 4.3 36.1
Bøhler 6.0 35.2
Kynningsrud Fundamentering 3.6 27.3
Wilhelmsen & Sønner 4.0 24.2
HG Asfalt 3.2 17.6
UFO Stadt 2.0 17.3
Litra Grus 15.6
Dokken 2.6 15.2
Selmer Bostäder 1.9 14.5
Burud Pukk & Grus 1.1 9.8
Veidekke Skåne 1.2 7.1
Gjenvinning Rogaland 0.8 6.9
Nedrebø Maskin 0.8 6.6
Kongsvinger Asfalt 1.2 6.6
Seby 4.8 4.9
Stavdal (sold in 2002) 11.4
Other operations 11.2 50.9
Total 75.7 448.2
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Notes to the Accounts

10. Long-term Receivables, etc.

2002 2001 2000

Loans to employees 89.7 81.5 75.9
Net pension funds 42.4 27.3 46.4
Loans to customers 25.1 33.0 44.3
Miscellaneous shares 18.6 19.3 18.1
Deferred tax assets 12.5 29.9 10.8
Other receivables 14.7 16.9 17.8
Long-term receivables, etc. 203.0 207.9 213.3

11. Non-residential Projects

Non-residential projects involve the development and construction of non-residential buildings for sale for Veidekke’s own
account. Costs incurred in respect of land, buildings under construction and completed non-residential buildings for sale are
entered under this item in the Balance Sheet.

Land for Under Completed

Non-residential projects at 31.12.2002 Location development development buildings Total

Verkstedveien Harstad 81.4 81.4
Tuneveien Sarpsborg 25.2 25.2
Berghagan Ski 19.1 19.1
Miscellaneous projects Denmark 14.0 77.2 91.2
Other projects Norway 26.3 1.7 1.9 29.9
Entered in Balance Sheet, total 40.3 98.0 108.5 246.8

2002 2001 2000

Gain on sale of non-residential projects 27.7 -1.0 20.6

9. Investments in Associated Companies

Book value at 

Company Location Ownership % Profit/Loss 31 December

Ramirent Oyj Helsinki 33 5.5 216.3
NSS Group Oy Helsinki 30 -0.9 14.8
Total industrial operations 4.6 231.1
Sjølyststranda AS Oslo 50 233.4
Rösunda Prod Ett AB Stockholm 50 15.1
Tipton Brown AB Stockholm 33 11.9
Rösunda Parkvillor HB Stockholm 50 9.2
Rösunda Hus A HB Stockholm 50 8.6
Other companies -1.6 40.3
Total property development -1.6 318.5
Total 3.0 549.6

8. Purchase of Operations 2002

Operations Location Purchase date Price

UFO Stadt Ålesund 01.01 32.9
Veidekke Skåne Lund 01.01 20.2
Dokken * Asker 01.01 9.1
SKÅAB Stockholm 01.01 5.2
Amrock ** Nedstrand 01.01
Total 67.4

*   Increased ownership share in Dokken AS from 60% to 80%
** Acquired the remaining shares in Amrock JV AS (50%)

7. Goodwill, Property and Machinery, etc.

Accum. Book Depre- Depre-

Cost depre- value ciation ciation

1 January Additions Disposals ciation 31 Dec. for year in %

Goodwill 813.6 56.2 128.7 292.9 448.2 75.7 8-20
Property 402.9 36.8 36.1 66.7 336.9 8.6 2-5
Machinery, etc. 2 642.4 283.7 1 353.9 983.3 588.9 276.9 10-25
Total 3 858.9 376.7 1 518.7 1 342.9 1 374.0 361.2

Investments and sales (sales price)

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Inv. Sales Inv. Sales Inv. Sales Inv. Sales Inv. Sales

Goodwill 56.2 116.4 54.0 498.1 64.5 101.7 127.1
Property 36.8 23.6 14.9 72.9 172.2 13.6 102.1 12.3 35.3 8.0
Machinery, etc. 283.7 785.0 382.1 135.3 964.5 62.2 322.2 57.6 427.3 26.6
Total 376.7 925.0 451.0 208.2 1 634.8 140.3 526.0 69.9 589.7 34.6
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13. Stocks

Stocks comprise project stocks and the Industry Division’s stocks. The first consists of materials, spare parts, tools, etc., 
and the second of crushed stone and aggregates for asphalt, etc.

14. Debtors

2002 2001 2000

Book debtors 1 646.2 1 639.1 1 560.4
Provision for bad debts -38.0 -33.8 -33.9
Due from customers 149.9 116.1 112.6
Completed, not invoiced 363.3 647.5 447.2
Invoiced, not completed -573.5 -539.5 -364.7
Debtors 1 547.9 1 829.4 1 721.6

12. Residential Projects

Residential projects involve housing erected for sale for Veidekke’s own account. Costs incurred in respect of land for deve-
lopment and housing under construction are entered under this item in the Balance Sheet.

Residential projects 2002 2001 2000

Land for development 206.4 132.2 119.3
Projects under development 370.9 644.6 383.9
Entered in Balance Sheet, total 577.3 776.8 503.2

Land for Under

Residential projects at 31.12.2002 Location development development Total

Vestre Voksen Oslo 91.5 91.5
Bergheim Terrasse Trondheim 56.5 56.5
Konowsgate Oslo 43.5 43.5
Åstad Asker 21.0 21.0
Skjoldnes Bergen 19.2 19.2
Rådhusgaten Drammen 17.2 17.2
Tromsø Bygg Tromsø 14.0 14.0
Täby Kyrkby C Stockholm 18.7 18.7
Soltorpet 1 Stockholm 14.4 14.4
Skälderviken Stockholm 11.2 11.2
Lustigknopp Stockholm 9.8 9.8
Miscellaneous projects Stockholm 103.2 103.2
Other projects Norway 105.5 51.6 157.1
Entered in Balance Sheet, total 206.4 370.9 577.3

Notes to the Accounts

15. Liquid Assets

2002 2001 2000

Bank deposits 448.2 467.5 686.2
Short-term investments 6.9 145.8
Liquid assets 448.2 474.4 832.0

16. Reconciliation of Shareholders’ Equity

2002 2001 2000

Majority Minority Total Total Total

Shareholders’ equity at 1 January 1 239.7 109.0 1 348.7 1 320.6 1 050.0
Share issue 11.5 11.5 18.8 191.2
Profit for the year 123.9 18.2 142.1 88.0 127.6
Dividends -95.6 -4.6 -100.2 -54.4 -55.2
Addition/reduction minority interests -6.2 -6.2 4.9 9.1
Currency adjustment -40.3 -0.7 -41.0 -29.2 -2.1
Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 1 239.2 115.7 1 354.9 1 348.7 1 320.6

Most of the minority interests refer to Kolo Veidekke a.s, of which Veidekke owns 80%. The issues in 2001 and 2002 were
rights issues directed at Veidekke’s employees.
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Notes to the Accounts

18. Taxation and Deferred Tax

Taxation 2002 2001 2000

Tax payable 101.5 113.4 63.1
Change in deferred tax -23.4 -66.1 -5.7
Total 78.1 47.3 57.4

Deviation in taxation 2002 2001 2000

28% of profit before taxation 61.7 28.0% 37.9 28.0% 51.8 28.0%
Actual taxation 78.1 35.5% 47.3 35.0% 57.4 31.0%
Deviation -16.4 -7.5% -9.4 -7.0% -5.6 -3.0%

Deviation in taxation is due to 

Non-deductible costs -2.7 -2.5 -3.0
Depreciation of goodwill -11.3 -12.0 -11.0
Adjustment of opening value of shares sold 2.3 4.8
Other items -4.7 5.1 3.6
Total -16.4 -9.4 -5.6

Deferred tax 2002 2001 2000

Timing differences

Short-term items 127.7 161.5 271.3
Accelerated depreciation 65.4 282.8 334.9
Gain and loss account 45.9 67.2 50.9
Other long-term items -45.3 -23.0 -0.8
Basis deferred tax 193.7 488.5 656.3

Deferred tax (28%) 54.2 136.8 183.8

17. Number of Shares, Shareholders, etc.

The largest shareholders of Veidekke ASA at 31 December 2002 Number of shares Ownership share in %

OBOS Forretningsbygg AS 4 663 664 17.1
Folketrygdfondet 3 784 800 13.9
Color Group 2 230 076 8.2
Storebrand 1 938 121 7.1
Avansefondene 1 434 863 5.3
Anthon B. Nilsen AS 1 297 100 4.7
Firstnordic Fondene 528 600 1.9
Odin Norge 481 608 1.8
Tine Pensjonskasse 475 000 1.7
Vital Forsikring 344 112 1.3
Bjarne Kynningsrud as 307 700 1.1
Fondsavanse 201 100 0.7
Sparebankenes sikringsfond 187 000 0.7
Erik Must A/S 184 600 0.7
JP Morgan Chase Bank 176 000 0.6
Total 15 largest shareholders 18 234 344 66.8
Employees 4 438 345 16.3
Other shareholders 4 636 265 16.9
Total 27 308 954 100.0

Total number of shareholders is 3,651. The shares have a nominal value of NOK 2.50 each.

Shares owned by key personnel at 31 December 2002

Board of Directors Number of shares

Christian Bruusgaard 1) 42 617
Peder Chr. Løvenskiold 2) 19 400
Kristian Omsland 2) 10 000
Steinar Krogstad 2 243
Ove Ågedal 1 775
Jan Kopstad 1 830
Number of shares owned by the Board of Directors 77 865

President and CEO

Terje R. Venold 2) 76 123

Members of the Corporate Management

Torkel Backelin 77 029
Arne Giske 10 600
Jørgen Huno Rasmussen 4 800
Ole Arnfinn Opsahl 51 849
Leif E. Johansen 46 875
Dag Andresen 44 055
Kai Krüger Henriksen 13 262
Eigil Flaathen 51 665
Number of shares owned by the Corporate Management 300 135

Total 454 123

1) Chairman of the Board
2) Including shares owned by closely associated parties and companies
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19. Pensions

Veidekke ASA and some of its subsidiaries have defined-benefit pension schemes for their employees, which are covered 
in a life assurance company. Most of Veidekke’s companies in Norway are also bound by agreed early retirement schemes.
Subsidiary Hoffmann A/S in Denmark has defined-contribution pension schemes for their employees. 2,710 current employ-
ees and 660 pensioners are covered by defined-benefit pension schemes..

2002 2001 2000

Veidekke ASA Kolo Other Group Group Group

Secured Unsecured Veidekke as companies Total Total Total

Pension expenses

Earned during year (present value) -21.4 -8.6 -6.0 -29.2 -65.2 -62.0 -43.5
Interest on commitments -20.0 -2.7 -5.3 -5.4 -33.4 -32.4 -29.8
Return on funds 21.6 5.4 3.9 30.9 29.2 31.0
Deviation in estimate entered in 
Profit and Loss Account. -1.8 -0.5 -0.3 -0.6 -3.2 -4.7 -1.8
Pension expenses -21.6 -11.8 -6.2 -31.3 -70.9 -69.9 -44.1
Entered in Balance Sheet

Pension funds 302.5 71.9 27.6 402.0 398.2 426.4
Pension commitments (present value) -316.9 -45.6 -84.8 -41.5 -488.8 -533.0 -491.1
Net funds/commitments -14.4 -45.6 -12.9 -13.9 -86.8 -134.8 -64.7
Deviation in estimate not entered in 
Profit and Loss Account 53.7 9.7 8.8 2.3 74.5 92.0 45.7
Net funds/commitments entered in Balance Sheet 39.3 -35.9 -4.1 -11.6 -12.3 -42.8 -19.0

At end 2002, net pension funds/commitments amounted to NOK –12.3 million of which NOK 42.4 million has been entered
under long-term receivables, while NOK 54.7 million has been entered under long-term liabilities. Pension commitments and
earnings for the year include employer’s contributions.

Each year deviations occur between the estimated and actual return on pension funds and between estimated and actual
pension commitments. Deviations are entered in the Balance Sheet up to a limit of 10% of whichever is highest of pension
funds and pension commitments. When accumulated deviations exceed this limit, the surplus is entered in the Profit and
Loss Account over the remaining accumulation period.

Financial assumptions %

Return on pension funds 8.0
Discount rate 7.0
Annual wage growth 3.3
Annual basic pension rate adjustment 3.3
Annual adjustment of pensions being paid 2.5

Notes to the Accounts

20. Long-term Debts to Credit-issuing Institutions, etc.

Long-term debts 2002 2001 2000

Long-term drawings on committed borrowing facilities 325.0 942.5 1 175.0
Other loans 430.3 460.9 564.0
Debts to credit-issuing institutions 755.3 1 403.4 1 739.0

Veidekke has committed borrowing facilities totalling NOK 1,500 million in Nordea. Of these, NOK 550 million represents
instalment loans. NOK 950 million refers to a committed borrowing facility, which is reduced by the amount outstanding at
any time in short-term bonds. Veidekke has a short-term bond programme totalling NOK 450 million.

Veidekke’s credit facilities in Nordea expire on 2 October 2005. These facilities, which are based on a negative mortgage
declaration, are conditional on Veidekke’s financial key figures (covenants) and on limitations on guarantees and security, sale
of significant assets without consent and own account risks in residential and non-residential projects. Veidekke meets all of
the conditions set out in the loan agreement and has satisfactory freedom of action.

At the end of 2002, 60% of Veidekke’s net interest-bearing liabilities were linked to long-term fixed interest-rate agreements.
The remaining liabilities follow the general trend in money market rates.

Maturity/repayment structure 2003 2004 2005 2006 After 2006

Reduction of NOK 1,500 million committed borrowing facilities 75.0 175.0 1 250.0
Other loans 25.6 290.9 15.0 66.8 32.0
Total 100.6 465.9 1 265.0 66.8 32.0

Key Figures 2002 2001 2000

Unused borrowing facilities 1 163.8 875.0 750.0
Weighted fixed interest rate at 31 December 6.9% 7.1% 7.2%
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Notes to the Accounts

26. Mortgages, Guarantees and Joint and Several Liability

Mortgages 2002 2001 2000

Book liabilities secured by mortgages, etc. 180.2 426.6 383.9
Book value of mortgaged buildings/land 215.6 503.1 440.6

Guarantees 2002 2001 2000

Guarantees to associated companies 1.7 1.9 11.4
Other guarantees 4.1 6.6
Total guarantees 1.7 6.0 18.0

The Group has issued negative mortgage declarations for loans and guarantees.

Guarantees furnished by Veidekke ASA to subsidiaries

2002 2001 2000

Total 590.5 1 089.2 977.4
of which joint and several liability for subsidiaries’ withdrawals from Group account 304.5 722.5 687.2

As a result of its participation in partnerships and joint ventures, Veidekke could become liable for other participants’ inability
to fulfil their obligations. However, Veidekke cannot be called to account until the company in question actually fails to fulfil its
obligations.

27. Payments to Key Personnel

In 2002, the Group auditors received NOK 6.6 million for auditing and NOK 3.1 million for consultancy services. 

In 2002, payments to members of the Board of Directors totalled NOK 1.1 million and the salary paid to the President & CEO
was NOK 2.3 million.

The President & CEO’s contract of employment can be terminated by either party giving 12 months’ notice. On termination of
this contract the President & CEO is also guaranteed a salary for a further 12 months. A reduction corresponding to the salary
and emoluments received by the President & CEO is made in the salary guarantee.

Veidekke has granted loans for the purchase of Veidekke shares to the President & CEO and members of the corporate 
management totalling NOK 9.9 million at 31 December 2002. This amount is shared between President & CEO Terje R. Venold
(NOK 2.7 million) and the following members of the corporate management: Torkel Backelin (NOK 2.2 million), Ole Arnfinn
Opsahl (NOK 1.3 million), Dag Andresen (NOK 1.0 million), Eigil Flaathen (NOK 0.8 million), Leif E. Johansen (0.8 million), 
Kai Krüger Henriksen (NOK 0.5 million), Arne Giske (NOK 0.5 million) and Jørgen Huno Rasmussen (NOK 0.1 million). These
loans are partly interest free and they are secured by mortgage on the shares. The President & CEO also has an ordinary 
loan of NOK 3.8 million, of which 2.5 million is a temporary house-building loan.

24. Tax Payable and Dividends

2002 2001 2000

Tax payable 90.5 91.6 70.6
Allocated to dividends 95.6 54.4 55.1
Tax payable and dividends 186.1 146.0 125.7

22. Creditors

Included under ‘Creditors’ are accrued costs and provision for work under guarantee, etc.

23. Unpaid Government Charges

Unpaid government charges consist of unpaid VAT, withheld tax, social security contributions, holiday pay, etc.

25. Other Short-term Liabilities

2002 2001 2000

Advance payment from customers 319.6 267.2 172.1
Other liabilities 121.1 115.0 96.2
Other short-term liabilities 440.7 382.2 268.3

21. Short-term Debts to credit-issuing Institutions, etc.

Short-term debts 2002 2001 2000

Bank overdraft 24.5 12.5 74.5
Debt instruments and building loans linked with property development 160.4 415.6 349.5
Other loans 0.3 14.2 15.0
Debts to credit-issuing institutions 185.2 442.3 439.0

Maturity/repayment structure 2003 2004 2005 2006 After 2006

Bank overdraft 24.5
Debt instruments and building loans linked with property development 53.3 17.9 4.6 4.6 80.0
Other loans 0.3
Total 78.1 17.9 4.6 4.6 80.0
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28. Projects in Progress

Taken to income on projects in progress 2002 2001 2000

Accumulated income 5 505 6 252 5 904
Accumulated contributions 413 438 306

Loss-bringing projects in progress * 2002 2001 2000

Remaining turnover 22 61 83

* Provision has been made in the accounts for the estimated loss on these projects.

29. Uncertainty and Conditional Outcome

Crediting projects to the accounts as they proceed entails some uncertainty, since the figures are based on estimates and
evaluations. For ongoing projects, uncertainty is linked with progress, disputes, work under guarantee, final prognoses, etc.
The final profit or loss on a project may therefore differ from the anticipated outcome. There is also the possibility of disputes
arising that have to be settled by arbitration or in a court of law. Except for the previously mentioned suspicions of a possible
breach of the competitions laws, Veidekke was at the end of 2002, not involved in any major disputes or other uncertainties
that will significantly affect future results. 

Notes to the Accounts

30. Cash Flow Statement

Purchase of Companies

In 2002, Veidekke purchased companies, which entailed a net cash outlay of NOK 37.1 million (NOK 21.3 million in 2001 and
NOK 468.9 million in 2000). The following figures have been entered in the Group Balance Sheet for these purchases:

2002 2001 2000

Liquid assets 21.2 5.4 419.4
Other current assets 78.0 15.9 883.0
Fixed assets 65.9 38.8 999.0
Debts to credit-issuing institutions -15.8 -6.3 -85.4
Operating debts -79.8 -7.0 -823.9
Payable/deferred tax 12.4 -1.3 -80.7
Long-term liabilities -23.6 -18.8 -372.4
Cost price for purchases 58.3 26.7 939.0
Credit for purchases -50.7
Liquid assets taken over -21.2 -5.4 -419.4
Net cash outlay 37.1 21.3 468.9

Goodwill, property and machinery, etc.

Investments 2002 2001 2000

Entered in accounts * 376.7 451.0 1 634.8
Purchase of subsidiaries -65.9 -38.8 -999.0
Cash outlay 310.8 412.2 635.8

* See note 7 – Goodwill, Property and Machinery, etc.

31. Transactions with Closely Associated Parties

OBOS and Veidekke have a joint interest in a property development project at Skøyen in Oslo. This will be managed through a
company called Sjølyststranda AS, of which the participants own 50% each. Sjølyststranda AS purchased the property from
Norway Trade Fairs for NOK 480 million in 2002. On this property, the participants plan to build and sell for their own account
470 dwellings and 40,000 square metres of business premises.

32. Sales of Operations

In 2002, Veidekke sold its plant hire company Bautas and the weather protection operations. Bautas was sold to the Finnish
listed company Ramirent Oyj on 30 September for NOK 885 million. In connection with this sale, Veidekke purchased an
ownership share of 33% in Ramirent through an investment of NOK 221 million (rights issue). At the beginning of the year,
Veidekke’s weather protection operations were sold to the Finnish company NSS Group Oy for NOK 77 million. At the same
time Veidekke purchased an ownership share of 30% in NSS Group through an investment of NOK 16 million. In 2001,
Bautas’ turnover totalled NOK 770 million and weather protection operations had a turnover of NOK 300 million. Total gains
from the sales were NOK 35.2 million.
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Profit and Loss Account

VEIDEKKE ASA Note 2002 2001

(Figures in NOK million)

Turnover 4 300.0 4 076.5

Subcontractors -2 374.3 -2 180.6
Cost of materials -753.4 -707.1
Wages 19, A -978.2 -991.2
Other operating expenses B -142.7 -190.0
Depreciation D -51.5 -88.0
Total operating costs -4 300.1 -4 156.9

Operating profit -0.1 -80.4

Financial income C 319.4 189.2
Financial expenses -238.6 -176.7

Profit before taxation 80.7 - 67.9

Taxation H 0.9 32.2

Profit for the year 81.6 -35.7

Transfers

Dividends 95.6 54.1
Other shareholders’ equity -14.0 - 89.8

Total 81.6 -35.7
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Balance Sheet

VEIDEKKE ASA 

At 31 December Note 2002 2001

(Figures in NOK million)

ASSETS

Fixed assets

Goodwill D 16.6 18.9
Buildings/land D 41.0 37.9
Machinery, etc. D 82.4 96.1
Shares in subsidiaries E 1 098.1 1 417.7
Shares in associated companies F 238.9 8.1
Long-term receivables, group companies 268.5 284.5
Long-term receivables, etc. 153.2 131.5
Total fixed assets 1 898.7 1 994.7

Current assets

Non-residential projects 18.4 18.1
Residential projects 7.9 9.3
Stocks 13 58.6 51.4
Debtors 530.5 466.7
Short-term receivables, group companies 221.1 255.5
Other short-term receivables 20.1 6.8
Liquid assets 209.5 751.2
Total current assets 1 066.1 1 559.0

Total assets 2 964.8 3 553.7

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholders’ equity

Share capital 68.3 67.6
Share premium reserve 228.9 218.0
Reserve for valuation differences 4.3 4.3
Other shareholders’ equity 709.1 723.2
Total long-term liabilities G 1 010.6 1 013.1

Long-term liabilities

Pension obligations 19 35.9 34.7
Deferred taxes H 52.9 60.2
Debts to credit-issuing institutions, etc. 335.9 941.5
Total long-term liabilities 424.7 1 036.4

Current liabilities

Debts to credit-issuing institutions, etc. 4.7 17.6
Creditors 22 852.7 933.9
Unpaid government charges 23 186.7 181.6
Payable taxes and dividends I 107.7 61.4
Short-term debt, group companies 172.2 153.8
Other short-term debts 205.5 155.9
Total current liabilities 1 529.5 1 504.2

Total shareholders’ equity and liabilities 2 964.8 3 553.7
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Cash Flow Statement

VEIDEKKE ASA 2002 2001

(Figures in NOK million)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Profit before taxation 80.7 -67.9
Tax paid -1.6 3.6
Depreciation 51.5 88.0
Gain on sale of fixed assets -5.0 -34.7
Pensions, difference cost/paid -15.9 18.8
Generated from operating activities 109.7 7.8

Change in non-residential and residential projects 1.1 62.4
Change in debtors -63.8 30.5
Change in other current assets 13.9 -17.6
Change in creditors -81.2 60.8
Change in other operating debts 73.1 199.7
Net cash flow from operating activities (A) 52.8 343.6

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

Purchase of property, plan and equipment -41.8 -25.2
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 8.2 79.9
Other investments 100.2 92.0
Net cash flow from investment activities (B) 66.6 146.7

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Repayments long-term debts -605.6 -268.5
New long-term borrowing - 12.5
Repayments short-term debts -12.8 -
Share issue 11.5 18.8
Dividends paid -54.2 -52.8
Net cash flow from financing activities (C) -661.1 -290.0

NET CHANGE IN LIQUID ASSETS (A+B+C) -541.7 200.3

Liquid assets at 1 January 751.2 550.9
Liquid assets at 31 December 209.5 751.2
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Notes to the Accounts

B. Remuneration to the Auditors

In 2002, remuneration to the company’s auditors amounted to NOK 1.4 million for auditing fees and NOK 0.8 million for 
consultancy fees.

A. Number of Employees 

2002 2001

Average number of employees 2 254 2 434
Number of employees at 31 December 2 140 2 317

VEIDEKKE ASA

The accounting policies on pages 25 and 26 and part of the notes for the Group also apply to the parent company.

C. Financial Income and Financial Expenses

Financial income includes dividends and contribution paid from subsidiaries to the parent company amounting to NOK 139.1
million (NOK 34.6 million).

D. Goodwill, Property and Machinery, etc.

Cost Accum. Book value Depreciation Depreciation

1 january Additions Disposals Deprecation 31 dec. year in %

Goodwill 50.0 33.4 16.6 2.3 8-20
Property 55.8 4.7 0.3 19.2 41.0 1.2 2-5
Machinery, etc. 307.4 37.0 13.7 248.3 82.4 48.0 10-25
Total 413.2 41.7 14.0 300.9 140.0 51.5

E. Shares in Subsidiaries

Company Location Ownership share % Book value*

Hoffmann A/S Copenhagen 100 393.0
Kolo Veidekke as Oslo 80 190.1
Brødrene Reme AS ** Kristiansand 85 128.9
Vecon Byggfornyelse AS Oslo 100 72.3
Block Berge Bygg AS Klepp 100 64.3
Veidekke Stockholm AB Stockholm 100 42.9
Kynningsrud Fundamentering AS Fredrikstad 79 23.6
Veidekke Eiendom AS Oslo 100 21.9
UNI Bygg AS ** Harstad 70 20.7
Norske Stålbygg AS Sandefjord 100 17.8
Trafikk & Anlegg AS ** Skien 70 17.5
Veidekke Gjenvinning AS Oslo 100 17.0
Seby AS ** Skedsmo 70 16.0
Veidekke Skåne Lund 100 14.2
Vecon AB Gothenburg 68 13.3
Noremco AS Oslo 100 12.6
Valdresbygg AS ** Leira 70 9.1
Bergheim Terrasser AS Trondheim 89 8.5
Veidekke Finans AS Oslo 100 5.0
Veidekke Skui AS Oslo 100 5.0
HG Betong Larvik AS Larvik 100 2.0
Other companies 2.4
Total 1 098.1

*  Book value in the company’s accounts at 31 December 2002 (cost method).
** For these companies, Veidekke has agreements to purchase the remaining shares. In the accounts, these companies are treated as 

if Veidekke has purchased 100% of the shares.

F. Shares in Associated Companies

Company Location Ownership share % Book value*

Ramirent Oyj Helsinki 33 221.2
NSS Group Oy Helsinki 30 16.1
Other companies 1.6
Total 238.9

* Book value in the company’s accounts at 31 December (cost method).
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G. Reconciliation of Shareholders’ Equity

2002 2001

Shareholders’ equity at 1 January 1 013.1 1 084.1
Share issue 11.5 18.8
Profit for the year 81.6 -35.7
Dividends -95.6 -54.1
Shareholders’ equity at 31 December 1 010.6 1 013.1

Notes to the Accounts

Oslo, 26 February 2003

Christian Bruusgaard
Chairman of the Board

Martin Mæland

Håkon LangballeJan Kopstad Steinar Krogstad

Peder Chr. Løvenskiold Kristian Omsland

Ove Ågedal Hilde Aasheim Terje R. Venold
President and CEO

Ole T. Krogsgaard

H. Taxation and Deferred Tax

Deviation in taxation 2002 2001

28% of profit before taxation 22.6 28% -19.0 28%
Actual taxation -0.9 -32.2
Deviation 23.5 13.2

Deviation in taxation is due to

Non-deductible costs -1.7 -1.4
Dividends received 11.2 5.0
Adjustment of opening value of shares - sale/liquidation of shares 16.6
Other items -2.6 9.6
Total 23.5 13.2

Deferred tax 2002 2001

Timing differences

Short-term items 178.3 171.2
Accelerated depreciation 8.2 25.3
Gain and loss account 26.1 31.1
Other long-term items -23.6 -12.6
Basis deferred tax 189.0 215.0

Deferred tax (28%) 52.9 60.2

I. Payable Taxes and Dividends

Accrued taxes payable amount to NOK 12.1 million (NOK 7.0 million). Dividends payable amount to NOK 95.6 million 
(NOK 54.4 million).
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Auditor’s Report
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Definitions of Key Figures

1) Ordinary profit for the year:

Profit for the year plus extraordinary items less tax on extraordinary items.

2) Operating profit margin: 

Operating profit as a percentage of turnover.

3) Gross profit margin: 

Profit before taxation as a percentage of turnover.

4) Return on total assets: 

Profit before taxation plus financial expenses as a percentage of average total assets.

5) Return on working capital: 

Profit before taxation plus financial expenses as a percentage of average total assets less interest-free 
short-term liabilities and interest-free long-term liabilities.

6) Return on equity:

Profit after taxation as a percentage of average total shareholders’ equity. 

7) Total shareholders’ equity: 

Book equity including minority interests.

8) Equity ratio:

Total equity as a percentage of total assets at 31 December.

9) Current ratio: 

Current assets divided by short-term liabilities.

10) Quick ratio:

Most liquid current assets divided by short-term liabilities.

11) Net interest-bearing liabilities: 

Liquid assets plus interest-bearing receivables less short-term interest-bearing liabilities less long-term 
interest-bearing liabilities. 

12) Earnings per share: 

Ordinary profit for the year after minority interests divided by the average number of non paid-up shares 
(fully watered down).

13) Cash flow per share: 

Ordinary profit for the year after minority interests plus depreciation divided by the average number of non paid-up 
shares (fully watered down).
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Risk Factors relating to Veidekke’s Operations

Economic trends

The anticipated upturn in the international economy in the second half of 2002 did not materialise and this also affected de-
velopments in the building, construction and property markets. Growing unemployment put a damper on households’ invest-
ments in dwellings and companies put off scheduled investments.

This uncertainty will continue into 2003 and will in particular affect the non-residential and residential property markets in
Scandinavia. The international risk factors are currently many and various: how lengthy and widespread will the Iraq conflict be
and how much will it affect the international economy? Will oil prices rise even more if the Iraq conflict escalates and thus
weaken the international economy? There is still an imbalance in the household sector in the American economy. An increase
in saving to restore the balance could contribute to a further weakening of the economy. The growth estimates for 2003 for
the building, construction and property markets in Scandinavia have been adjusted downward, albeit from a high level of acti-
vity. For Norway, a slight decline is expected in the markets (-1 per cent) in 2003. This will be most noticeable in housing and
private non-residential buildings. Denmark and Sweden will be greatly affected by international developments and it is expec-
ted that the building, construction and property markets will virtually level off.

In Norway, the situation in the labour market represents a significant risk today for the economy and for the building, construc-
tion and property markets. If the rise in unemployment spreads to the provinces, this may help to further weaken the housing
market. It is also uncertain what direction the weakening of the industry’s competitive strength will take. The rate of exchange
for Norwegian kroner fell in the first months of the year, but it is still expected to remain high. This means that the industry’s
competitive strength will continue to be weak and this will push unemployment up and investment down.

The Swedish economy depends to a large degree on developments in the export markets and in the present situation the
risks are, as mentioned above, considerable. A rising oil price represents a considerable risk for Swedish industry. Next
autumn Sweden will hold a referendum to determine whether the country will join the EMU. Uncertainty regarding the out-
come of the referendum and how the interest rate will be affected by that outcome is also significant for the Swedish eco-
nomy and building, construction and property markets.

The Danish building, construction and property markets are characterised by a relatively level trend this year. The Danish eco-
nomy also reflects uncertainty. The risk here is related in particular to the rise in unemployment and to how quickly the manu-
facturing industry will be able to improve its competitive ability. Movements in the oil price are also of great significance for
Denmark. 

Project risks

The general rule in building and heavy construction projects is that the client is responsible for the technical solution that is
chosen, while the contractor’s risk is linked with execution. However, Veidekke has a considerable number of projects which
have been developed in collaboration with the client, where Veidekke has accepted more responsibility for the technical
design (turnkey contracts). It is Veidekke’s experience that the realisation of such projects entails few unforeseen circumstan-
ces. This is due, among other things, to the thorough analysis that is made of the technical risk before the contract is signed.

It is also Veidekke’s experience that amendments and additions will be made to contracts once the project is under way.
Payment for these changes or additions is not always clearly described in the contract. Until agreement has been reached on
settlement, this can put pressure on liquidity. However, Veidekke has been involved in few disputes and always makes a point
of documenting and reporting any deviations, so that agreement can be reached with the customer.

In the case of major, exceptionally demanding projects, it is common to enter into partnership with other contractors with a
view, for example, to spreading risks.

Projects for Veidekke’s own account

Activities for Veidekke’s own account constitute an increasingly large share of its total project portfolio and most of these acti-
vities are connected with house-building. The risk involved here is mainly linked with ‘falls’ in the housing market. House 
prices in Scandinavia remained fairly stable in 2002, but sales of new dwellings have slowed down noticeably. With the pro-
spect of a falling interest rate and an accumulated demand for houses, there is little indication of a significant fall in prices 
in the housing market. However, rising unemployment is an element of uncertainty that will have a negative effect on the 
housing market.

Before commencing projects for its own account, Veidekke makes it a condition that a certain number of units have been sold
in advance. Most of Veidekke’s housing projects are located in a few large cities, and the bulk of them are in the Oslo area
where the sites are located in attractive residential areas with a relatively high price level. Veidekke keeps a close watch on
developments in the housing market, and the total number of projects under construction at any time never involves more
than a limited risk.

Operations outside Scandinavia

In 2002, Veidekke’s operations outside Scandinavia represented about 2.4 per cent of its total turnover. Operations in Africa
are concentrated mainly on building projects in Tanzania and completion of Hoffmann’s road project in Benin. The risks invol-
ved in these operations relate first and foremost to settlement for completed work. Veidekke seeks to minimise this type of
risk by concentrating on development aid projects and projects funded by international financial institutions. It has been deci-
ded, however, to wind up international project operations once ongoing commitments have been fulfilled.
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Corporate Governance

The bodies, systems and key tools which make up
Veidekke’s governance structure are listed below.

Group governance
One of the primary goals of group governance at Veidekke is
to ensure control and oversight in a decentralised organisa-
tion, whose operations consist of more than 1,000 ongoing
projects with a normal duration of three to fifteen months.
This is achieved by detailed and systematic reporting from
each project to each division and from there to the group
management and board of directors. Reports are submitted
ten times a year and cover both financial and non-financial
parameters, with the focus on profitability and risk associa-
ted with each project, and injury/absence statistics. It is also
important for Veidekke to make sure that its total portfolio of
projects constitutes an acceptable level of risk exposure and
a good potential for profitability. Its portfolio of projects is a
regular item on the agenda at meetings of the Divisional
Management, Group Management and Board of Directors.

The Board of Directors is Veidekke’s highest administrative
body, directly responsible to the Annual General Meeting.
The Board of Directors determines the overall focus and
agenda for the Group by adopting strategies and budgets
and providing the management with external expertise and
experience. It is also the task of the Directors to discuss and
monitor particularly important areas of the company’s acti-
vities. In accordance with plans laid down, a thorough review
is made throughout the year of the company’s operations.
Nine Board meetings are held each year. Two of the meet-
ings are held in Sweden or Denmark. One of the board 
meetings is combined with an inspection of a regional office
or branch and visit to a project.

The company has an electoral committee consisting of
representatives of different shareholders and shareholder
groups. The committee submits proposals to the Annual
General Meeting. In view of the company’s considerable
activity in Scandinavia, it is essential that all three countries
are represented in the management and governing bodies.
In consultation with the employees’ representatives,
Veidekke has applied for dispensation from the statutory
requirement of a corporate assembly. Instead, the employ-
ees have a larger representation on the Board of Directors.

The President and CEO is responsible for the day-to-day
management of Veidekke’s activities and complies with the
guidelines and instructions issued by the Board of Directors.
The President and CEO reports to the Board monthly, either
at meetings or in writing, on Veidekke’s activities, standing
and profit performance. The President and CEO informs the
Board once a month about results achieved and action plans
in the field of health, safety and environment.

The Group Management consists of the President and CEO,
heads of divisions, and persons responsible for
economy/finance, strategy and communication. Eleven
group management meetings are held each year.

The divisional managements (construction divisions in
Norway, Sweden and Denmark and the Industry and
Property divisions) meet regularly but with varying frequency
(11 meetings each year in Norway, Denmark and Industry,
six meetings in Sweden and five in Property).

Interaction with union representatives is assured through 
liaison meetings at different levels in the organisation, an
annual conference between management and representa-
tives, informal meetings, etc. A European works council
(EWC) will be set up in line with EU rules.

Management processes and tools 
Veidekke’s planning wheel forms the core of its economic,
financial and strategic planning. It defines a fixed agenda
throughout the year for the preparation of strategic plans,
budgets and ongoing supervision of the divisions. This sys-
tem ensures a common focus and a joint commitment for
everyone involved in managing the Group.

Veidekke’s financial policy sets guidelines for the entities’
financial activities within Veidekke. Its purpose is to avoid,
limit, control and measure financial risk, promote capital 
rationalisation and optimise the Group’s financial resources.

Veidekke’s management system for site managers, which is
accessible on the company’s intranet, provides clear guide-
lines for how projects are to be carried out as regards quality,
progress, cost-effectiveness, health, safety and environ-
ment, and other important considerations. This tool plays an
important part in ensuring a uniformly high standard in pro-
ject work.

The Board of Directors’ compensation committee is com-
posed of Board members elected by the shareholders. The
committee submits proposals to the Board of Directors on
salary and compensation schemes for the President and
CEO. The Committee also gives advice on salary and com-
pensation schemes for the management. The committee
reports to the Board of Directors.

Veidekke has drawn up its own compliance programme in
order to inform affected employees about the basic rules of
competition law that apply to Veidekke’s activities. The aim
of the programme is to increase understanding of and com-
pliance with applicable laws and regulations. The work of
implementing the programme in the Group is underway.
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Submission of Annual Accounts
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Budget Meeting

Veidekke’s Planning Wheel
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Shareholder Policy and Ownership Structure

Shareholder policy

Veidekke is committed to securing for its shareholders a high and stable return on their investment in Veidekke shares. The
shareholders’ return is a combination of share price and dividend and it should reflect the financial development of the compa-
ny. The company stresses the importance of providing the market with accurate and relevant information at the right time, so
that its shares can be priced as correctly as possible. Existing shareholders will, in principle, be given pre-emption rights when-
ever the share capital is increased.

Share prices

Veidekke’s shareholders have enjoyed a solid return on their shares since Veidekke was first listed on the stock exchange in
1986. Shareholders have had an average annual return of 14.8 per cent in the form of a higher share price and dividend. Prices
on the Oslo Stock Exchange rose by 6.1 per cent during the same period. In spite of an extremely turbulent stock market in
2002, when Oslo Stock Exchange’s all-share index fell by 31.1 per cent, Veidekke shares gave a positive return of 4.1 per cent,
taking into consideration share dividends. The price of a Veidekke share reached its peak in May at NOK 68.50 and bottomed
out at NOK 43.00 in October. 

Dividends 

It is Veidekke’s aim to pay a competitive dividend. Veidekke has chosen this year to change the company’s dividend policy by
increasing the pay-out ratio. The new dividend policy establishes that the distributed dividend will represent at least 50 per
cent of the company’s profit for the year. Previously, the company aimed for a pay-out ratio of between 30 and 40 per cent.
The change in dividend policy is linked with the company’s good financial position and positive cash flow. The company will
direct the main focus of its strategy in the years to come on profitability, project orientation and risk management. 
The company’s growth will primarily be based on organic growth with limited capital tied up in this.

The Board of Directors proposes distributing a dividend of NOK 3.50 per share for 2002. This indicates a pay-out ratio of 76.5
per cent, thereby giving the shareholders a direct return of 6.9 per cent based on the share price at the end of the year. 

The dividend will be paid on 27 May 2003 to all shareholders who are registered as owners on the date of the Annual General
Meeting, 8 May 2003.

Return on the company’s equity capital

It is Veidekke’s long-term objective to achieve a return on equity capital of about 20 per cent, but has been under this target
for the past three years. In 2002, return on equity was 10.5 per cent. The company has implemented a number of measures
to strengthen its profit margins. This work also includes monitoring risk exposure and capital rationalisation. For 2003 the com-
pany’s target is 15 per cent. 

Further growth for Veidekke

Since the beginning of the 1980s Veidekke has undergone expansive growth and development. Through both acquisitions and
organic growth, Veidekke has grown to become one of Scandinavia’s leading construction and property development compa-
nies. Veidekke is now located in all the Scandinavian growth areas. Further growth will primarily be organic and take place 
within Veidekke’s existing product and geographic areas.

Trading in Veidekke shares

Veidekke shares were first listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange’s main list in June 1986. They are sold in blocks of 200. In 2002,
11.6 million Veidekke shares were traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange, where the turnover rate was 42.8 per cent. The com-
pany works continuously to maintain satisfactory liquidity in its shares. This is done primarily through ongoing information to
the stock market and investors and an active approach to investor relations.

Ownership structure 

At 31 December 2002, Veidekke had 3,651 shareholders. The company’s largest shareholders were OBOS Forretningsbygg
(17.1 per cent), Folketrygdfondet (13.9 per cent) and Color Group (8.2 per cent). All in all, 1,734 employees hold shares in the
company and their total ownership share is 16.3 per cent. In March 2003, OBOS Forretningsbygg increased its ownership
share to 23.1 per cent.
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Shareholder Policy and Ownership Structure

Largest shareholders as at 31 December 2002

Name Ownership share %

OBOS Forretningsbygg 17.1
Folketrygdfondet 13.9
Color Group 8.2
Storebrand Livsforsikring AS 7.1
Anthon B. Nilsen AS 4.7
Avanse Spar 2.4
Avanse Norge 2.0
Odin Norge 1.8
Tine Pensjonskasse 1.7
Firstnordic Norge 1.5
Vital Forsikring ASA 1.3
Bj. Kynningsrud A.S. 1.1
Fondsavanse AS 0.7
Avanse Industri 0.7
Sparebankenes Sikringsfond 0.7

Largest shareholders as at 31 December 2002 

Shareholding Number of Number

From To shareholders of shares %

1 - 100 856 37 179 0.14
101 - 1,000 1 760 691 502 2.53
1,001 - 10,000 843 2 702 550 9.90
10,001 - 100,000 168 4 748 572 17.39
100,001 - 24 19 129 151 70.04
Total 3 651 27 308 954 100.00

Employee-owners

It is an advantage for Veidekke as a company, and thus for all of its shareholders, if its employees have a substantial owner-
ship share in the company. The value of a contracting company depends very much on its structure and its employees. The
involvement of its employees as shareholders is therefore an important and positive element in the development of the com-
pany. It is Veidekke’s aim to see at least half of its employees holding shares in the company with a total ownership share of
close on 15 per cent. It is desirable that people in senior management positions each hold a significant number of shares.

Veidekke endeavours at all times to pave the way for greater employee participation. Each year it gives employees the oppor-
tunity to purchase shares in the company at a discount on the market price. Veidekke also offers about 300 key employees
financial assistance to purchase shares in the company. 

In November 2002, the company effected an issue of shares directed at all employees. 702 employees subscribed for
270,000 shares at a price of NOK 43 per share.

Amount  No. of Shares Share Capital

paid after increase after increase Adjustment

Form of issue NOK million (1,000) NOK million Factor

1986 Dispersion issue, price NOK 11.71 25.3 3 053 30.5
1986 Issue employees, price NOK 10.54 3.1 3 113 31.1
1988 Bonus issue 5:1 3 736 37.4 0.833
1989 Merger Hesselberg Vei 4 693 46.9
1989 Dividend shares 0.5 4 746 47.5 0.998
1990 Merger Folke A. Axelson A/S 4 802 48.0
1990 Dividend shares 0.6 4 861 48.6 0.999
1991 Merger Stoltz Røthing Haugesund A/S 4 912 49.1
1991 Merger Aker Entreprenør A/S 5 623 56.2
1995 Issue employees, price NOK 26.24 8.0 5 698 57.0
1998 Share split 1:2 11 396 57.0
2000 Share split 1:2 22 791 57.0
2000 Rights issue 6:1 191.2 26 590 66.5 0.981
2001 Issue employees, price NOK 42.00 19.0 27 039 67.6
2002 Issue employees, price NOK 43.00 11.6 27 309 68.3

At 31 December 2002, Veidekke’s share capital was NOK 68.3 million divided into 27,308,954 shares of NOK 2.50 each.
Changes in the company’s share capital since it was first listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange are shown in the table above.

Shareholders

1 Employees 16.3%
2 State companies 13.9%
3 Credit institutions and unit trusts 16.1%
4 Insurance companies and private pension funds 11.5%
5 Private companies 35.5%
6 Individuals 4.8%
7 Foreign investors 1.9%

1

4

5

6

2

3

7
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Shareholder Policy and Ownership Structure

Authorisations 

The Annual General Meeting has authorised the Board of Directors to issue up to 4.4 million shares. This authorisation is valid
until 1 July 2003. Insofar as this is possible, Veidekke seeks to ensure that any resolutions concerning changes in share capital
are passed by the Annual General Meeting. Since 1986, authorisation has been granted for two years at a time. This authori-
sation has primarily been used in connection with issues of shares to employees and in connection with minor mergers. The
Board of Directors is also authorised to repurchase the company’s own shares for a total nominal value of up to NOK 6.5 mil-
lion, or just under 10 per cent of the share capital. This authorisation is valid until 31 August 2003 and the Board of Directors
will propose to the Annual General Meeting that the validity of this authorisation be extended to 31 August 2004. The Board of
Directors considers the repurchase of shares in the company as a possible solution if the company’s financial situation is
strong and there are no interesting investment options in the Group’s business areas.

The Board of Directors will ask the Annual General Meeting on 8 May 2003 to renew the above authorisations. However, the
authorisation to issue shares will be limited to 2.7 million shares.

VEIDEKKE SHARE 2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

Market price 31 December 51.00 51.00 57.00 74.50 45.00
- high 68.50 60.00 74.00 77.50 74.25
- low 43.00 38.00 53.00 49.50 40.00
Earnings per share 4.58 2.58 4.79 8.41 8.10
Price/earnings (P/E) 11.1 19.8 11.9 8.7 5.4
Cash flow per share 17.93 20.26 20.18 19.15 16.78
Market price/cash flow 2.8 2.5 2.8 3.8 2.6
Dividend per share 3.50 2.00 2.00 2.75 2.50
Payout ratio (%) 76.5 77.5 41.8 32.1 30.3
Earnings yield (%) 6.9 3.9 3.5 3.7 5.6
Outstanding shares (average 1,000) 27 055 26 870 25 199 22 792 22 792
Market value at 31 December (NOK million) 1 393 1 379 1 516 1 698 1 026
No. of shareholders at 31 December 3 651 3 737 3 452 3 353 2 960
Amount for adjustment of opening value of shares 0.10 1) 0.61 0.40 8.04 1.99

1) Estimate. The final amount is determined by the tax authorities. Norwegian shareholders are notified by the Norwegian 
Central Securities Depository.

Inside information

Veidekke has incorporated current legislation regarding the handling of confidential
information and the rules for reporting share transactions in its routines. Veidekke
follows a stricter practice than is required by law in its internal trading rules. In
addition to the wider statutory duty to investigate, the company observes the duty
to clear primary insiders in order to ensure more thorough compliance with the
duty to investigate. This is in keeping with the recommendations of the Oslo Stock
Exchange. Veidekke has also drawn up internal rules which have been made
known to all employees in key positions and to senior union representatives. These
rules mean, among other things, that employees must show great care at all times
when buying and selling shares.

Adjustment of the opening value of shares

Each year an adjustment is made in the opening value of shares, based on the
change in Veidekke’s retained, taxed capital divided by the number of outstanding
Veidekke shares. It is only Norwegian shareholders who have to adjust their cost
price by this amount. The adjustment amounts for the last five years are shown in
the table above. The amount passes to Norwegian shareholders on 1 January of
the following year.

Investor relations

Veidekke considers it important to keep the market regularly informed about the
company’s progress. 

Quarterly reports will be issued on the dates given on page 2 of this Report. When
annual and interim reports are published, Veidekke normally holds presentations for
shareholders, brokers, analysts and the press, both in Norway and abroad. The
company also maintains regular contact with investors and analysts. Most stock-
broking houses at the Oslo Stock Exchange carry out analyses of Veidekke shares.
Information can be found on Veidekke’s home page about which analysts follow
Veidekke shares. The company publishes information in Norwegian and English.

The Internet

Veidekke’s quarterly reports, analysts’ reports and other important press releases
and presentations are accessible on Veidekke’s home page on the same date as
they are published through traditional channels.
Go to: www.veidekke.biz

Price/Earnings (P/E)

Jørgen G. Michelet

Financial Director and head of
Investor Relations.
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Areas of Activity1)

Building and heavy construction in Norway.Veidekke Entreprenør 
Construction, Norway

Asphalt, crushed stone and gravel operations,
plus recycling of industrial waste and waste
from building and construction.

Owns 33 per cent in hire company Ramirent Oyj
and 30 per cent in NSS Group Oy (weather 
protection).

Veidekke Industri
Industry

Building and heavy construction in Denmark.Hoffmann 
Construction, Denmark

Building and heavy construction in Sweden,
based in Stockholm, Gothenburg and Skåne.

Veidekke Entreprenad 
Construction, Sweden

Development of non-residential buildings, spe-
cial-purpose buildings for the public sector
and dwellings for Veidekke’s own account in
Norway, including operations in Stockholm
and Copenhagen.

Veidekke Eiendom 
Property

18%

Turnover

See pages  58-59

9%

Turnover

See pages  56-57

7%

Turnover

See pages  54-55

18%

Turnover

See pages  52-53

48%

Turnover

See pages 50-51

NOK million 2002 2001 2000

Turnover 2 044 2 416 2 268 

Pre-tax profit/loss 85.0 61.0 50.2

Average number 
of employees 1 487 1 629 1 515

NOK million 2002 2001 2000

Turnover 5 721 5 403 4 891 

Pre-tax profit/loss 122.4 -15.1 99.1

Average number 
of employees 2 905 3 041 2 963

NOK million 2002 2001 2000

Turnover 768 361 166

Pre-tax profit/loss -19.2 -8.7 -1.6

Average number 
of employees 555 215 105

NOK million 2002 2001 2000

Turnover 1 971 2 094 525

Pre-tax profit/loss 9.3 24.3 13.9

Average number 
of employees 1 378 1 336 333

NOK million 2002 2001 2000

Turnover 1 033 856 186

Pre-tax profit/loss 75.6 110.0 30.3

Average number 
of employees 66 65 43

In 2002, the company’s construction operations were reorganised. The effect of the changes will not be reflected in 
the accounts until 1 January 2003. In the table above and in the descriptions on the following pages, however, this 
has been taken into account and figures for construction operations have been adjusted in accordance with the new
organisation structure. For the sake of comparison, reference will be made in the quarterly reports for 2003 to the
adjusted figures. 

1)

Description Key Figures

2)

2) Figures for 2000 are for the fourth 
quarter only

Business Area
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• Focus on margins 
• Focus on productivity
• Be a customer-driven organisation 

which attaches importance to key
customers 

• Focus on projects and further deve-
lopment of Scandinavian cooperation

• NOK 122.4 million pre-tax profit 
(compared with NOK -15.1 million in 
2001)

• Revised control system and related 
routines

• Joint costs reduced, effective from 
2003

• Solid orders for heavy construction in
Sweden

• Improve profitability, especially in the
weakest units

• Systems development for planning 
and project management

• Integration of former Special 
Projects Division

• Organisational development project, 
“We at Veidekke”

• Focus on profitability through greater
technical expertise and capacity for 
major turnkey contracts, e.g. in the 
form of partnering 

• Lower accident rate 

• Strengthened position in market for 
development of large shopping 
centres

• Despite greater efforts, no improve-
ment in accident rate, but sickness 
absence down to 5 per cent

• More focus on customer orientation
• Improved profitability
• Introduce new costing system
• Win a place in Labour Inspectorate’s 

top league

• Strengthen market position in 
Stockholm/Mälardalen and 
Gothenburg (Vecon)

• Establish a base in Skåne
• Better interaction with the other 

units in Veidekke

• Controlled growth and good profits 
in Vecon  

• Obtained “critical mass”, awarded 
several major projects and built up 
market position in the Stockholm 
area

• Established a base in Skåne by 
acquiring several companies

• Strengthen Vecon through further 
organic growth

• Improve profitability in Stockholm 
through better project management 
and efficient organisation

• Strenghten building operations in 
Skåne and integrate Skåne companies

• Start development of Sjølyststranda, 
Oslo

• Maintain high pressure on property 
sales and market communication

• Focus on tied-up capital

• Satisfactory profit despite falling 
market

• First ”Startbo” project a success
• A number of housing projects now 

ready for marketing

• Continue to focus strongly on sales 
and market communication

• Develop “Startbo” concept
• Uncertain market requires close 

attention to risk and exposure

• Continue to focus on profitability in 
asphalt, crushed stone and gravel 
operations

• Continue developing nation-wide 
network to ensure supply of industrial
waste and complete solutions for 
recycling customers

• Good financial results in spite of 
historically low asphalt market

• Turnover for industrial waste rose in 
line with plans

• Retain volume and earnings in 
asphalt and aggregates, and win 
contracts for operation and main-
tenance 

• Continue to grow in industrial waste 
market, with emphasis on earnings 
and profitability

Priority Areas in 2002 Achieved in 2002 Priority Areas in 2003
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Veidekke Entreprenør 
Construction

Veidekke Entreprenør AS is responsible for Veidekke’s construction operations in

Norway and carries out all types of building and construction work. This includes 

new residential and non-residential buildings, schools and other public buildings,

rehabilitation, heavy construction projects, such as road and railway projects, and

industrial projects. 

The division’s present organisation was established in 2002 when Special Projects

was integrated into Construction Norway. From January 2003, the division includes

five regions and is organised as a separate company called Veidekke Entreprenør AS.

Following a weak year in 2001, the division concentrated its strategy for 2002 on

customer orientation, consolidation and focus on margins. At the end of the year, 

we see that this has proved effective, and the division can boast a substantial 

improvement in profit compared with the previous year.

A decision was made in 2002 to initiate a development and improvement process 

in the division under the name “We at Veidekke”. This is a long-term organisational

development project focusing on better management through involvement, inter-

action and common goals. The success of this project will depend to a large degree

on the further development of our culture of self-production. This will mean fewer

distinctions between office employees and skilled workers and a strong focus on

capability, productivity, quality and interaction with customers.

This division is responsible for building and construction 
operations in Norway

WE WILL USE THE
“WE AT VEIDEKKE”
PROCESS TO MAKE
VEIDEKKE THE BEST
CONSTRUCTION
COMPANY IN THE
MARKET

Bergheim Amfi is one of Trondheim’s
largest housing projects.

Work in progress on the double track
between Sandvika and Asker for the
Norwegian National Rail Administration.
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Veidekke Entreprenør
Construction

Financial results

The division showed a very favourable profit performance in 2002. Turnover was

NOK 5,721 million compared with NOK 5,403 million in 2001. This gave a profit

before tax of NOK 122.4 million, as against a loss of NOK 15.1 million in 2001. The

division improved its profits in virtually every region and district.

Prospects

Activity in private commercial building remained low throughout 2002, particularly

in the Oslo area, while house building levelled off and showed a falling tendency

towards the end of the year.

In the private sector, market prospects are uncertain for 2003. A falling market

could be offset to some extent by more activity in the public sector and a relatively

good market outside the Oslo area.

Veidekke Entreprenør AS was awarded a number of significant contracts in 2002

and orders-on-hand stood at NOK 4,515 million at the end of the year, compared

with NOK 4,849 million at the end of the previous year.

Work on the new power plant in Åbjøra
in Valdres, which will replace the exist-
ing one built in 1951.

Norway Trade Fair’s new exhibition hall
in Lillestrøm.

The Flatåsen housing project in Drøbak.
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Hoffmann 
Construction

In 2002, the company changed its name from H. Hoffmann & Sønner A/S to
Hoffmann A/S, while its affiliation with Veidekke was underlined in a new logo.

Hoffmann’s operations are split into five national regions, which successfully car-
ried out a large number of major contracts in newbuilding, heavy construction,
renovation, maintenance and management in 2002.

Hoffmann’s primary activities in Denmark showed a satisfactory development
throughout the year. However, the company’s activities in the field of technical
installations and its participation in projects in developing countries showed dis-
appointing results. These activities will be radically reduced in the future.

Contracts for housing cooperatives and building societies were an important area
for Hoffmann in 2002. House-building activity is expected to increase in 2003, with
pension funds and other institutional investors in the role of developers. In the non-
residential market, conversion and modernisation of shopping centres is currently
an active area. At the end of the year, Hoffmann had contracts for the conversion
of two shopping centres, each for more than NOK 250 million. Major ongoing of-
fice building projects include a building for approximately NOK 200 million for
Norwegian insurance company KLP and a new head office for the HK-København
trade union for about NOK 150 million.

In the heavy construction segment, Hoffmann has added cable laying to its more
traditional activities and has entered into framework agreements with electricity
supply companies. To utilise its own expertise in municipal engineering and
Veidekke’s foundation expertise, Hoffmann has established a new unit, “Hoffmann
Vandbygning og Fundering”.

Veidekke’s construction operations in Denmark are looked 
after by Hoffmann A/S, which is Denmark’s fourth largest 
construction company

FOCUS ON 
CUSTOMER
ORIENTATION

This combined production and admi-
nistration building is being built for
Linak a.s on the Danish island of Als.

New office building for KLP Ejendomme
A/S at Ørestad between downtown
Copenhagen and Kastrup airport.
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Hoffmann 
Construction

Hoffmann was also involved in international operations in 2002. In Uganda, it com-
pleted the construction of a main road for Danida, under a contract worth about
NOK 200 million. This work was carried out on a 50/50 basis with South Africa’s
largest contractors, Murray & Roberts. The same consortium is carrying out a simi-
lar road project for Danida in Benin for close on NOK 300 million. This project was
started two years ago and will be completed in the course of 2004.

Hoffmann had 1,378 employees in 2002, as against 1,336 in 2001. In spite of
extensive efforts on the health and safety front, the number of workplace acci-
dents is still far too high. The injury rate (the number of lost-time injuries per million
man-hours) was 28 (25 in 2001), which corresponds to the Danish average for the
industry. Greater attention will therefore be given to bringing the accident rate
down.

Financial results

In 2002, Hoffmann’s turnover in Denmark amounted to NOK 1,971 million com-
pared with NOK 2,094 million in 2001. Profit before tax was NOK 9.3 million after
covering owner costs amounting to NOK 22.7 million. In 2001, pre-tax profit was
NOK 24.3 million. This weak figure compared with the previous year can be ascri-
bed to a provision of NOK 5 million and a loss of NOK 10 million on technical instal-
lations. The provision relates to an accident at a velodrome in Ballerup, which was
built in 2002, where two rafters collapsed and caused material damage. However,
the accident was not due to any fault on the part of Hoffmann.

Prospects

In 2003, top priority will be given to serving Hoffmann’s and Veidekke’s existing
customers and to focusing systematically on customer orientation. At the end of
the year, the level of activity had fallen in most market segments in Denmark, but
growth is still anticipated in house building.

At the end of the year, Hoffmann’s order books totalled NOK 1,865 million, as
against NOK 1,345 million at the same time the previous year. This provides a good
basis for the division in 2003, when we are anticipating an improvement in earn-
ings and only a small growth in turnover.

Lyngby Shopping Centre is about to
undergo conversion at a total cost of
DKK 250 million.

Kedelhallerne in Fredriksberg is a sports
and cultural facility.
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Veidekke Entreprenad 
Construction

Vecon

2002 was another very good year for Vecon. Turnover rose from NOK 204 million in
2001 to NOK 222 million in 2002. Vecon is one of the leading building and con-
struction companies in West Sweden. In 2002, the company successfully perfor-
med a number of major contracts which it had signed in 2001 and achieved a profit
for the year in keeping with Veidekke’s long-term requirements. Vecon has expan-
ded its organisation by setting up a separate department for building operations
and it will continue its organic growth, particularly on the building side. Vecon’s
order books showed a total of NOK 143 million at the end of the year.

Veidekke Stockholm AB

Veidekke Stockholm has its market in the Stockholm area and in Mälardalen. Its
operations include both building and heavy construction. Turnover rose steeply
from NOK 157 million in 2001 to NOK 307 million in 2002. However, this gave a
very weak result for 2002. This is due mainly to establishment costs and to the
fact that projects contracted in the initial phase did not achieve the expected mar-
gins. Measures have been implemented to ensure better project management and
a more efficient organisation. These are expected to give an improvement in 
profits in 2003.

Veidekke Stockholm has consolidated its position in the Stockholm area. This is
due in particular to the contracts for work on the Uppsala bypass on the E4 motor-
way and structural work at a large waste incineration plant in Uppsala. The former
is a joint venture with the Swedish Vägverket Produktion and the total contract
price is SEK 1,350 million. Veidekke Stockholm AB had orders-on-hand totalling
NOK 820 million at the end of 2002.

This division is responsible for Veidekke’s construction opera-
tions in Sweden through subsidiaries Veidekke Construction AB
(Vecon) in Gothenburg and Veidekke Stockholm AB and its 
operations in Skåne.

IN PLACE IN THE
LARGEST GROWTH
AREAS IN SWEDEN

Ironworker in action on a railway bridge
for Botniabanan AB.

This housing scheme, Parkvillorna, is
being built in Saltsjöbaden.
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Veidekke Entreprenad 
Construction

Veidekke Skåne

In 2002, Veidekke established operations in Skåne by taking over the Lennart
Knutsson AB companies. These are Harald Johnsson – Tractatus AB, which is
engaged in building in the area, Tullberg Entreprenad, which carries out minor con-
struction work from its base in Helsingborg, and Byggsmederna AB, which manu-
factures and assembles steel structures. These companies have firm local roots in
Skåne.

Since its establishment, Veidekke Skåne has focused on increasing the scope of its
unit for new production, and on integration and increased efficiency in the organi-
sation. 

The Skåne companies had a total turnover of NOK 239 million in 2002 and reported
positive overall results. 

Prospects

No growth is expected in total building and construction investments in Sweden in
2003. A further decline is predicted in private non-residential building, while heavy
construction expects a slight upturn. The greatest uncertainty is linked with deve-
lopments in the housing market. Any growth in this market will depend on an
improvement in the international situation.

Work on the E6 motorway between Hogdal and Nordby in Bohuslän. Work on a railway bridge and underpass
in Mölnlycke.
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Veidekke Eiendom 
Property

Market conditions

There was a slump in the housing market in Norway in 2002, particularly in the
second half of the year. Prices remained stable, but sales of new dwellings were
lower than anticipated. The weak economic picture and international unrest linked
with the Iraq crisis has caused potential purchasers to think twice. While interest in
our projects is good, most purchasers have to sell their present dwelling in order to
finance a new one and the fear of not being able to do so often leads to a post-
ponement of the new purchase.

The initial months of 2003 show a more positive attitude in the market, but it is dif-
ficult to say how the market will turn in the coming year. The rise in unemployment
and the general uncertainty felt by most people have a negative effect. On the
positive side, we have a falling interest rate.

House-building costs have soared over the past five years. That was possible
because market prices rose at the same rate. This is no longer the case, and we
are now finding it difficult to build houses at prices most people can afford. If we
are to continue to be major house-builders, we will have to develop and build dwel-
lings that a broad section of the population can afford to live in.

The demand for non-residential premises fell noticeably throughout 2002. We do
not believe this will improve in 2003 and we are therefore wary about investing in
new projects.

The housing market in Stockholm remained relatively stable in 2002. There was
less demand for large, expensive houses, but the interest in ‘normal’ dwellings
was good. However, the market is showing signs of instability and is affected by
the same uncertainty as the Norwegian market.

The Property Division is involved in the development of residen-
tial and non-residential property and special-purpose buildings
for the public sector. It is also responsible for the management,
operation and maintenance of its own and other non-residential
properties

SCANDINAVIAN
HOUSE-BUILDER
WITH FOCUS ON
THE CUSTOMER

Sjølyststranda in Oslo includes 470
dwellings and about 40,000 square
metres of office and business space.

A housing project at the water’s edge
at Smedasundet in Haugesund.
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Veidekke Eiendom 
Property

Housing

At the end of the year, Veidekke had 570 dwellings in progress for its own account.
Of these, 520 were in Norway and 50 were in Sweden. The number of dwellings
sold was 450. Veidekke’s share of completed, unsold dwellings was 40. This is 
higher than we would like, and we have therefore considered and will continue to
consider what steps to take to improve sales.

In 2002, we started our first ‘Startbo’ project. This concept was designed especial-
ly for young people. The flats have a separate unit which the owners can rent out.
This brings housing costs down to an acceptable level for most young people.
Later, when finances allow, the rented part can become part of the family flat. The
first project, 110 flats in Trondheim, sold very well and we now have waiting lists
for these flats.

Veidekke’s largest development project is Sjølyststranda in Oslo. This project will
consist of about 470 flats and about 40,000 square metres of office/business pro-
perty. Sales of the flats in the first building phase have already started and, if
advance sales are satisfactory, building will be commenced during the first half of
2003. 

Non-residential projects

In 2002, we concentrated on finalising plans for our non-residential projects, so
that we can start building when the market picks up again. We also sold a nursing
home in Drammen at a satisfactory profit.

Goals for 2003

In the course of 2003, many projects will be ready for development, but we cannot
commence building until we have a sufficient number of advance sales. It is also
necessary for us to sell unsold dwellings in ongoing projects in order to avoid
unacceptable tied-up capital and exposure to risk. Top priority will therefore be
given to sales and market communication.

Veidekke Bostad & Fastighet AB in Stockhom is progressing well and has a large
number of good projects under development. In the course of 2003, we will also
start our first project in Skåne. Further expansion of our operations in Sweden, so
that they can attain the anticipated profitability and size in the course of a few
years, is therefore a matter of priority.

In Denmark, we are in the process of finalising the plans for a large housing project
in Copenhagen. We will also consider purchasing smaller housing projects. Our
objective is to build up slowly in order to ensure control and profitability. 

Startbo is a housing concept designed
especially for young people.

Veidekke is building a block of forty-
eight flats at Luxviken in Stockholm.

A housing project at Vestre Voksen in
Oslo.
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Veidekke Industri
Industry 

Veidekke’s weather protection operations (Nordic Shelter Solutions) were sold to a
Finnish company, NSS Group Oy as of 31 March 2002. Veidekke owns 30 per cent
of the shares in NSS Group. On 30 September 2002, Veidekke sold its plant hire
company, Bautas as, to the Finnish listed company Ramirent Oyj and at the same
time purchased 33 per cent of the shares of this company.

Asphalt/aggregates

Kolo Veidekke a.s had a market share of about 30 per cent in 2002. The demand
for asphalt in the Norwegian market continued to decline in 2002, falling by about 
4 per cent from 2001. However, Kolo Veidekke’s turnover showed a stable devel-
opment compared with 2001.

The market for crushed stone and gravel remained more or less stable. The market
for operation and maintenance of the public roads network is expected to improve
for the private contractors in the years to come. Kolo Veidekke has been awarded
two of a total of five such contracts which have been available to private contrac-
tors on a nation-wide basis.

Kolo Veidekke reinforced its position in Sunnmøre in 2002 by taking over UFO
Stadt as’ crushing plant and machine contracting business. Kolo Veidekke’s aggre-
gates operations in Gjøvik, Hamar and Lillehammer were sold to Litra Grus AS.
Kolo Veidekke owns 47 per cent of this company.

The Norwegian Competition Authority has initiated an investigation of the largest
asphalt contractors in Norway on suspicion of breach of the competition laws. In
June 2002, the matter was referred to Norway’s commercial crime unit (Økokrim)
for further investigation.

Recycling

In 2002, turnover for Veidekke Gjenvinning rose by about 24 per cent to approxi-
mately NOK 300 million. Most of the growth can be ascribed to the industrial
waste segment and to new operations in the counties of Vestfold and Rogaland.
Now into its fourth year in operation, Veidekke Gjenvinning is in the process of
securing a nation-wide platform for its operations. In the course of 2002, it also
moved into the field of bioenergy with the production of briquettes from wood
waste in Trondheim and Oslo.

LARGEST ASPHALT
COMPANY AND
SECOND LARGEST
CRUSHED STONE
AND GRAVEL 
PRODUCER IN
NORWAY

Asphalting is carried out all over Norway.

The Industry Division consists of Kolo Veidekke a.s (asphalt and
aggregates) and Veidekke Gjenvinning AS (recycling). In 2002,
weather protection and plant hire were also part of the division’s
operations.
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Veidekke Industri
Industry 

Veidekke expanded its demolition and heavy building waste operations by taking over 50 per cent of Svensk Kross & Återvin-
ning AB (SKÅAB) in Stockholm. This acquisition is an extension of Veidekke’s operations in Norway through BA Gjenvinning AS.

Since its start, Veidekke Gjenvinning has established and invested in about 20 companies and has thus focused strongly on
organisational development and coordination of its operations. This group of companies is ISO certified and works continuous-
ly to include new subsidiaries in the certification.

Weather protection and Plant hire

Veidekke owns 30 per cent of the shares in NSS Group Oy, which is the largest company in Finland in the field of tarpaulin
hire and hire and sale of shelters and marquees.

As of 30 September 2002, Bautas’ plant hire operations were sold to the Finnish listed company Ramirent Oyj for a price of
NOK 885 million. At the same time, Veidekke purchased 33 per cent of the shares in the new Ramirent through a rights issue
for EUR 30 million (about NOK 225 million). This transaction released about NOK 630 million in capital for the Group and gave
a profit of NOK 30 million. 

Bautas is Scandinavia’s second largest plant hire company. Its main markets are in Norway and Sweden. Ramirent is the lead-
ing plant hire company in Finland and it also operates extensively in Russia, the Baltic States, Poland and Hungary.

Financial results

In 2002, the division achieved a turnover of NOK 2,044 million (NOK 2,416 million). Pre-tax profit was NOK 85.0 million (NOK
61.0 million). This includes gains totalling NOK 30 million on the sales of Veidekke’s plant hire operations.

Prospects

The asphalt market is expected to follow the same trend as in recent years, with a stable or slightly lower total volume. Kolo
Veidekke will therefore continue to focus on improving cost efficiency. The Public Roads Administration has reorganised its
own production as a new company, Mesta, and this will have a significant effect on the asphalt market. It will also mean that
we will see a considerable increase in the market for operation and maintenance contracts in 2003. 

In the recycling field, work continues on establishing a nation-wide platform and complete management solutions for building,
heavy construction and industrial waste. Operations will be expanded in the regions where Veidekke is already established.
Veidekke has thus in February 2003 established new operations in the Fredrikstad area. The trend in waste volumes will
depend on the general level of activity in Norway.

As regards Veidekke’s investment in Ramirent Oyj, the general situation in the Nordic building and construction markets will
be important in 2003. The company expects to achieve gains from coordinating management and purchasing for its total ope-
rations. A market growth is also expected in Russia, the Baltic States, Poland and Hungary.

Kolo Veidekke is the second largest pro-
ducer of crushed stone and gravel in
Norway.

Veidekke Gjenvinning is in the process of securing a nation-wide platform for its
operations.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

Veidekke’s  commitment to social responsibility is rooted in its basic values: profes-
sional, honest, enthusiastic and ground-breaking. Social responsibility at Veidekke
starts with a conscious relationship with each of the company’s most important tar-
get groups: its customers and suppliers, its shareholders, its employees, the indus-
try and the community

In all of our operations, we focus on people as the users of our buildings and struc-
tures. This is reflected in our vision: “We will build a better future for people in all
aspects of life”. The Veidekke House (fig. 1) illustrates how these values are linked
up to Veidekke’s vision through its strategic activities and relationships.

Veidekke has also defined some objectives, concretising what social responsibility
entails for the company:

•  To run a healthy and profitable business
•  Live up to society’s and Veidekke’s own ethical standards
•  Have an open dialogue and maintain good relations with the world outside the 

company
•  Be open and proactive with regard to problems and incidents

We aim to live up to these same standards no matter where we operate. Local
conditions must be respected.

Veidekke’s management will focus on social responsibility as an important area for
the company in the future and contribute actively to intensifying this work.
Particular attention will be given to improving measurability and follow-up.

Some important activities and systems which play a part in fulfilling our social obli-
gations are described in the following:

HSE

Veidekke’s work in the field of health, safety and environment are described on
pages 62 and 63.

Basic values and ethics

Veidekke works systematically to ensure that its basic values are adopted by the
whole organisation. Veidekke’s Value Circle (fig. 2) describes the close connection
between values, attitudes and behaviour. Our basic values: professional, honest,
enthusiastic and ground-breaking, are at the centre of the circle and must be reflec-
ted in our attitudes and conduct in all relationships. These values are incorporated
in the activities by which we convey our corporate culture, for example in person-
nel and management development, in our introduction programmes for new
employees and in internal and external communication. In this way, we work con-
sciously to ensure that values and ethics are integrated organically in Veidekke’s
vision, objectives and business strategy.

As a large contracting company, Veidekke
has a duty to show responsibility, consider-
ation and professionalism in every part of
its operations, towards people within the
company and towards the world outside.

VEIDEKKE’S 
COMMITMENT 
TO SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY 

IS ROOTED IN ITS
BASIC VALUES



61

Corporate Social Responsibility

Creating value through partnership

It is Veidekke’s ambition to improve cooperation both inside and outside the com-
pany under the motto “Creating value through partnership”. At in-house level, this
means we must improve our ability to learn from each other, listen to each other
and develop the human resources in our organisation. This work is closely linked
with the strategic process in the company and Veidekke’s primary targets:

• A return on equity capital of 20 per cent, which indicates a profit margin of 
4 per cent.

• A sickness absence rate of less than 5 per cent.
• An injury-free workplace, with a short-term goal of an injury rate (lost-time 

injuries per million man-hours) of less than 5 by the end of 2003. 
• A Veidekke which contributes in practice to sustainable development.

Campaign to stop clandestine employment

Illegal employment at Norwegian building sites is a serious problem which
destroys confidence in individual companies and in the industry as a whole.
Veidekke has drawn up routines and rules to prevent the use of illegal labour at 
its own building sites. We have also contacted the social partners with a view to
mobilising the whole industry in the fight against this negative development. We
are, for example, working closely with the authorities to initiate effective measu-
res. One such measure is a brochure, which has won the appreciation of the indus-
try and the authorities.

Skills development and contribution to vocational training

Veidekke has a clear image of self-production, of using its own skilled workers to
do the job. In this way and with the help of the on-site learning project, Veidekke
contributes to vocational training in the industry. Veidekke has one of Norway’s lar-
gest apprenticeship programmes and it also arranges a wide range of in-house
courses. These courses are geared to the company’s needs as they grow out of its
strategy, action plans and commercial goals.

Emergency preparedness

Veidekke has drawn up plans to handle unforeseen incidents both at project level
and at higher levels. These plans describe precautions and reactions in an emer-
gency, i.e. serious accident or incident, or other situations where various groups 
in the community will have high expectations of the way Veidekke handles the 
situation.

Industrial relations

Veidekke helps to safeguard the interests of its employees by maintaining good
relations with their representatives. Monthly meetings are held between union
representatives and employee representatives at district level, while an annual 
conference is held for senior union representatives. 
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Health, Safety and Environment 

Now that Veidekke has established itself as a Scandinavian company, we will endeavour to keep the same focus on HSE in all
three countries and work towards achieving the goals that have been set for the Group:

• The sickness absence rate must be lower than 5 per cent
• For lost-time injuries, Veidekke’s long-term goal is an injury-free workplace and its short-term goal is an injury rate (number 

of lost-time injuries per million man-hours) of less than 5 by the end of 2003.

Health and work environment

The goal of Veidekke’s occupational health service (OHS) is: “More good working years for everyone”. This goal underlines
Veidekke’s wish to provide secure workplaces with a high degree of job satisfaction and good relations between colleagues
and between management and skilled workers. The OHS monitors the work environment as part of its efforts to contribute to
a good work environment, which include carrying out occupational health examinations. The employees point out three main
reasons why they enjoy their job: pleasant and capable colleagues, exciting and varied job content and a good work environ-
ment.

Their suggestions for how to increase job satisfaction are mainly directed at better planning and facilitation of work and better
management and follow-up. The employees say themselves that they will suffer from fewer musculo-skeletal problems if they
exercise more and make use of better equipment and aids in their work.

In 2002, sickness absence in Norway was 6.9 per cent for all employees as against 6.4 per cent the year before. For skilled
craftsmen the absence rate was 8.8 per cent, compared with 8.5 per cent in 2001. This shows that considerable emphasis
still has to be given to measures to reduce absence. Veidekke will intensify the use of its handbook on absence management
which, among other things, specifically requires managers to monitor sickness absence systematically and as early as possible
in the course of the illness, with a view to making it possible for the patient to return to work quickly. Long-term absence is
followed up by the OHS in cooperation with the local absence and rehabilitation committee.

The sickness absence figures in Sweden and Denmark are lower than in Norway. This is due primarily to different political gui-
delines regarding the use of qualifying periods for benefits, and to the fact that people on long-term sick leave are removed
from the sickness absence statistics at an earlier stage than in Norway.

IT PAYS TO INVEST
IN HEALTH, SAFETY
AND ENVIRONMENT

Clear-cut attitudes and good results in the field of health, safety
and environment (HSE) are important factors in our aspiration to
be first choice with our customers, suppliers and employees. 

The Grane project was awarded
Veidekke’s HSE prize for 2002.
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Health, Safety and Environment 

Safety

Building and construction activities involve the risk of injury. We are aware of this
risk and we have launched a zero vision of an injury-free workplace for Veidekke’s
employees. We will work continuously to ensure that all of our employees and
those of our partners return safe and sound from work each day. To emphasise the
managers’ responsibility for an injury-free workplace, the CEO’s “Ten Command-
ments for HSE Management” were drawn up and introduced in 2001. These must
be practised by managers at all levels and will be an important tool in achieving
Veidekke’s zero vision.

The injury figures showed a favourable trend in 2001. For Norwegian operations,
the injury rate (number of lost-time injuries per million man-hours) was 9.0 in 2002
compared with 12.3 in 2001. The injury figures for the other Scandinavian opera-
tions are higher and efforts must be made at all levels if we are to achieve our
short-term goal of an injury rate of less than 5 in 2003.

The HSE Prize

Veidekke introduced its HSE Prize in 1997. This prize is intended as a recognition
of employees whose systematic, well-planned efforts promote a good work envi-
ronment and reduce injuries and absence. Creativity and innovation are also evalua-
ted. The aim of the prize is to help create a positive spirit of competition in the
company and encourage the exchange of experience in HSE work.

The HSE prize, a statuette by sculptor Kirsten Kokkin, is presented at Veidekke’s
annual conference for senior union representatives. 

The Prize for 2002 was awarded to the Grane project. Here, Veidekke in partner-
ship with the English Murphy Pipelines built the onshore section of a new pipeline
from the Grane oil field in the North Sea to Sture in the county of Hordaland.
Extensive work was also carried out at the Sture terminal. The winner demonstra-
ted in an exemplary manner that the best results are achieved when Veidekke’s
systems and routines are used as the basis for HSE work. The project was charact-
erised by a highly satisfactory work environment, and the jury applauds the project
management for involving all the employees and subcontractors.

In 2002, 1,184 employees in Norway
underwent an occupational health 
examination. Given a scale of 0 for zero
job satisfaction to 7 for top job satisfac-
tion, the average reply was 5.4. This
indicates that most employees enjoy
working at Veidekke.

• Average age: 42
• Exercise regularly in free time: 55%
• Smoke every day: 43%
• Impaired lung function, spirometric 

testing (adjusted for age): 30%
• Impaired hearing (adjusted for age): 

42%
• Musculo-skeletal problems past 

12 months: 80%
• Sick leave in 2002 because of 

musculo-skeletal problems: 15% 

In partnership with Murphy Pipelines, Veidekke is building the onshore section of a
new pipeline from the Grane oil field in the North Sea to Sture in Hordaland.
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External Environment

Veidekke belongs to an industry which generates 40 per cent of all the waste that
goes to special landfills and which is responsible for 40 per cent of all energy con-
sumption and 40 per cent of all material consumption. We see this as a challenge.
Veidekke wishes to be a pioneer in protection of the outdoor environment in its
own industry. 

Veidekke believes that environmental considerations represent a challenge through-
out the life of a product. We will protect the environment by increasing our experti-
se, interaction with the authorities, customers and suppliers and with the help of
our environmental management system.

In practice, our commitment means that we start thinking environment at the plan-
ning stage. This applies to use of environmentally friendly materials, products and
processes, reduction of energy consumption, minimisation of emissions to soil, air
and water, reduction of waste volumes during building and source separation of
waste for re-use. The environment is also part of our business operations through
Veidekke Gjenvinning AS. 

Networks
In 2000, Veidekke helped to establish an environment network in the building and
construction industry. In 2002, the Federation of Norwegian Construction Industries
took over the secretariat for this network, which is open for construction compani-
es and skilled workers. The network wishes to influence the industry’s regulatory
framework and conditions pertaining to the external environment. Interaction with
the authorities and suppliers is vital to achieving results. The most important
theme has been waste and separation at source. 

Energy
Veidekke had a total energy consumption of 203 GWh in 2002. The breakdown into
energy sources was 21 per cent gas, 57 per cent oil and 22 per cent electricity. In
2001, Veidekke’s energy consumption was 236 GWh, while it was 201 GWh in
2000. Thus, the energy consumption has been reduced from 0.025 GWh to 0.018
GWh per million Norwegian kroner within a period of two years.

Kolo Veidekke a.s holds a world patent for low-temperature production of asphalt
(the WAM process). Investigations confirm 30 per cent less energy consumption,
30 per cent less CO2 and 60 per cent less dust emissions from asphalt plants.
When the asphalt is laid, vapours are neither visible nor measurable. If all the
asphalt in the world was made by the WAM process, CO2 emissions would be
reduced by 5,220 millions tonnes. In Norway, this means taking 12,000 cars off the
roads. Companies in Sweden, England and the Netherlands have purchased or are
going to purchase WAM licences in 2003, because their authorities put a premium
on energy-reducing measures as “soft parameters” in tenders. In the USA, the
Congress is demanding measures from the asphalt industry to reduce energy con-
sumption, CO2 emissions and unpleasant vapours/smells from the industry. NAPA
(the National Asphalt Pavement Association) has decided to test the WAM process
in the laboratory and in the field in the USA in 2003. Kolo Veidekke and Shell will
be present at these tests.

ENVIRONMENTAL
CONSIDERATIONS
REPRESENT A
CHALLENGE
THROUGHOUT
THE LIFE OF THE
PRODUCT

Environmental vision

• Veidekke will contribute to sustain-
able development

• Environmental protection will be inte-
grated into all phases of Veidekke’s 
day-to-day operations

• Veidekke’s active, long-term efforts 
will turn the company’s focus on the 
environment into a competitive 
advantage

Main guidelines

Veidekke will be responsible and show
due care in environmental issues

• Veidekke will focus on the external 
environment and the environment 
for the end user by setting environ-
mental goals and achieving them

• Veidekke will not only meet the 
authorities’ environmental require-
ments but will also be at the leading 
edge in certain selected areas

• Veidekke will increase its knowledge 
of the environmental impact of its 
products and activities

The WAM process reduces energy con-
sumption and emissions of CO2 by 30
per cent.

Veidekke Gjenvinning has facilities for
the production of briquettes from wood
waste.
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External Environment

Biofuels
Veidekke Gjenvinning AS has set up two factories for the production of wood briquettes from waste wood: Trondheim
Biobrensel As and Veidekke Bioenergi AS. The factory in Trondheim went into regular operation in November 2002. Production
in 2002 was about 1,200 tonnes. In 2003, annual production is expected to total 10,000 tonnes. Veidekke Bioenergi AS was
established in July 2002 in partnership with Hydro Texaco. The factory is located in Oslo and expects to achieve an annual pro-
duction of about 10,000 tonnes when operating at full capacity. It will go into regular operation in spring 2003. Briquettes from
these two factories will generate about 75 GWh of energy. Since these will replace oil heating, this will reduce CO2 emissions
by about 25,000 tonnes. 

Waste
Veidekke’s construction operations in Norway have introduced waste management plans and final accounting at all large sites.
Empirical data for 2002 has been collected from almost fifty completed projects. Waste accounts list the generated volume of
waste, degree of source separation and costs of waste management. We generated less waste at newbuilding projects in
2002 than the year before. In 2002 the waste volume was less than 25 kg per sq.m. while it was 27 kg per sq.m. in 2001.
Generally speaking, the degree of separation at source has fallen, i.e. less waste was separated at source at the building sites.
There are large regional variations in the degree of source separation, due for example to a lack of statistical material, variation
in project portfolio, municipal requirements and the sales potential and prices of different waste fractions. The average cost of
waste has not changed. Work is being done to reduce waste volumes and increase the degree of source separation on the
building sites.

At the Oslo Atrium building project, which is Veidekke’s largest office building in progress in 2002 and 2003, we have en-
deavoured to reduce the waste from a number of materials, including gypsum (plaster). By cooperating with the supplier, we
have succeeded in reducing gypsum waste from the customary 15 per cent to under 10 per cent of purchased quantity by
using pre-cut plaster board and paying attention to packaging.

Veidekke’s projects in Oslo have worked hard to meet the municipal requirement of 60 per cent source separation on the buil-
ding site. With the exception of two projects, we have reached the target before completion. Veidekke has a close and pro-
ductive dialogue with the local authorities in Oslo through inspection on the building sites, telephone contact and reports of
changes.

Noise
The noise at building and construction sites can be intense. Drilling in rock and sheet piling are both noisy processes. Without
screening or other protection, this noise can be unpleasant and disturb conversations as far as 300 metres away. A new type
of equipment, a “silent piler”, has been tested at one of Veidekke’s projects for the Public Roads Administration. This is a
hydraulic piler, which presses the sheet piles into ground instead of hammering them down. Comparable measurements taken
in 1998 show that the vibrations from a “silent piler” are only 20-30 per cent of conventional equipment. Measurements of
the noise level show that the nearby houses are not so much bothered by the noise from “silent piler” as by the traffic on the
main road. This is the largest project to use the “silent piler” outside Japan. This work is being carried out in cooperation with
Veidekke’s subsidiary, Kynningsrud Fundamentering AS.

Research and development
RESIBA, a research project to increase the use of recycled aggregate in building and heavy construction, was concluded in
June 2002. Seven status reports and a guide on the use of recycled aggregated have been published. The guide has been dis-
tributed to the industry. Veidekke is continuing its work on the production and use of recycled masses. 2003 will see the com-
pletion of a school at Sørumsand, where concrete containing 35 per cent of recycled aggregate has been used in parts of the
building. This is the highest percentage of recycled aggregate used in the concrete structures in an ordinary building in
Norway. www.byggforsk.no/prosjekter/resiba

With reference to an R&D project at the Reuse Centre in Pilestredet Park in Oslo, Veidekke has prepared two reports on reuse
in the building industry: “Gjenbruk i byggebransjen – State of the art” and “Designstrategi for bruk av gjenbruksmaterialer”.
These reports are available from the Directorate of Public Construction and Property.

New equipment has been tested on the
E18 through Kristiansand in order to 
reduce the noise of sheet piling.

An active effort was made at the Oslo
Atrium building site to reduce waste
from a number of materials.

Waste collection agreements with sup-
pliers are an effective way of increasing
separation at source at building sites.
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GROUP
P.O. Box 505 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 00
Fax: +47 21 05 50 01

VEIDEKKE ENTREPRENØR AS
Divisional Management
P.O. Box 506 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
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Region East
District Oslo
P.O. Box 506 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
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District Østfold
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Veidekke Byggfornyelse 
P.O. Box 4203 Nydalen, N-0401 Oslo
Sandakerveien 110
Telephone: +47 23 05 90 00
Fax: +47 23 05 90 50

Region South
District Buskerud 
Gråterudveien 45, N-3036 Drammen
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Fax: +47 32 26 00 30

Department Ringerike
Nedre Kilemoen, N-3516 Hønefoss
Telephone: +47 32 17 90 30
Fax: +47 32 17 90 31

Department Hallingdal/Valdres
Glitre, N-3550 Gol
Telephone: +47 32 07 49 44
Fax: +47 32 07 56 15

A/S Valdresbygg
N-2920 Leira i Valdres
Telephone: +47 61 36 22 90
Fax: +47 61 36 25 99

District Vestfold
P.O. Box 300, N-3101 Tønsberg
St. Olavs gate 1
Telephone: +47 33 30 79 79
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District Telemark
P.O. Box 166, N-3901 Porsgrunn
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Telephone: +47 35 93 11 11
Fax: +47 35 93 11 12

Norske Stålbygg AS
P.O. Box 1083, N-3204 Sandefjord
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Fax: +47 33 29 19 01
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Telephone: +47 38 12 58 00
Fax: +47 38 12 58 01

Block Berge Bygg A/S
Øksnevad, N-4353 Klepp Stasjon
Telephone: +47 51 78 99 00
Fax: +47 51 78 99 01

Region North/West
District Bergen
P.O. Box 6005 Postterminalen, 
N-5892 Bergen
Møllendalsbakken 9
Telephone: +47 55 38 70 00
Fax: +47 55 38 70 01

District Sogn og Fjordane
P.O. Box 63, N-6851 Sogndal
Kaupanger Industriområde
Telephone: +47 57 67 90 10
Fax: +47 57 67 90 11

Department Sandane
P.O. Box 185, N-6821 Sandane
Telephone: +47 57 86 62 55
Fax: +47 57 86 59 80

District Haugesund
P.O. Box 2073, N-5504 Haugesund
Karmsundgaten 51
Telephone: +47 52 80 60 00
Fax: +47 52 80 60 01

District Trondheim
P.O. Box 6100 Sluppen, 
N-7435 Trondheim
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Telephone: +47 73 82 35 00
Fax: +47 73 82 35 90
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Department Oslo
P.O. Box 504 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 00
Fax: +47 21 05 50 28

Department Østfold/Dykkerteknikk
P.O. Box 68, N-1720 Greåker
Greåkerveien 27
Telephone: +47 69 10 27 00
Fax: +47 69 10 27 01

District North
Department Fauske
P.O. Box 4, N-8202 Fauske
Skysselvik
Telephone: +47 75 64 10 50
Fax: +47 75 64 10 51

Department Harstad
P.O. Box 513, N-9485 Harstad
Klubbholmen 11
Telephone: +47 77 00 23 00
Fax: +47 77 00 23 01

Trafikk & Anlegg AS
Røraskogen 16, N-3739 Skien
Telephone: +47 35 91 59 20
Fax: +47 35 91 59 30
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P.O. Box 504 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 00
Fax: +47 21 05 50 26

Machinery Department Skui
P.O. Box 380, N-1301 Sandvika
Ringeriksveien 201 C
Telephone: +47 21 05 55 00
Fax: +47 21 05 55 01

V-Teknikk
P.O. Box 504 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 00
Fax: +47 21 05 50 32

Kynningsrud Fundamentering AS
Vallehellene 3, N-1662 Rolvsøy
Telephone: +47 69 30 97 00
Fax: +47 69 30 97 01

HOFFMANN A/S
Main Office and Division East
Fabriksparken 66, 
DK-2600 Glostrup, Denmark
Telephone: +45 43 29 90 00
Fax: +45 43 43 34 22

Division Zealand
Fiskerhusvej 38, 
DK-4700 Næstved, Demark
Telephone: +45 55 75 75 75
Fax: +45 55 75 75 55

Division South
Nørre allé 13, 
DK-7000 Fredericia, Denmark
Telephone: +45 76 20 37 77
Fax: +45 76 20 37 76

Division North
Edwin Rahrs Vej 88, 
DK-8220 Brabrand, Denmark
Telephone: +45 87 47 47 47
Fax: +45 87 47 47 87

VEIDEKKE ENTREPRENAD AB
Veidekke Stockholm AB
P.O. Box 1503, S-172 29 Sundbyberg,
Sweden
Allén 7
Telephone: +46 8 635 6100
Fax: +46 8 635 6198

Veidekke Construction AB (VECON)
P.O. Box 6273, S-400 60 Göteborg,
Sweden
Norra Gubberogatan 32
Telephone: +46 31 707 1950
Fax: +46 31 846 861

Pål & Grund AB
P.O. Box 11028, S-720 11 Västerås,
Sweden
Telephone: +46 21 12 7470
Fax: +46 21 16 7320

Veidekke Skåne
Harald Johnssons Bygnads - 
Tractatus AB
Råbyvägen 1, S-224 57 Lund, Sweden
Telephone: +46 46 199 400
Fax: +46 46 145 381

Byggsmederna AB
P.O. Box 3, S-261 22 Landskrona,
Sweden
Telephone: +46 41 844 9750
Fax: +46 41 829 905

Tullberg Entreprenad AB
Bunkagårdsgatan 4, 
S-253 68 Helsingborg, Sweden
Telephone: +46 42 295 520
Fax: +46 42 290 940

VEIDEKKE EIENDOM AS
P.O. Box 507 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 00
Fax: +47 21 05 50 11

Veidekke Eiendom AS
P.O. Box 300, N-3101 Tønsberg
St. Olavsg. 1
Telephone: +47 33 30 79 79
Fax: +47 33 30 79 78

Veidekke Eiendom AS
P.O. Box 6005 Postterminalen, 
N-5892 Bergen
Møllendalsbakken 9
Telephone: +47 55 38 70 00
Fax: +47 55 38 70 01

Veidekke Eiendom AS
P.O. Box 6100 Sluppen, 
N-7435 Trondheim
Vegamot 8
Telephone: +47 73 82 35 00
Fax: +47 73 82 35 90

Veidekke Bostad & Fastighet AB
P.O. Box 1503, S-172 29 Sundbyberg,
Sweden
Allén 7
Telephone: +46 8 635 6100
Fax: +46 8 635 6199

VEIDEKKE INDUSTRY
Divisional Management
P.O. Box 508 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 00
Fax: +47 21 05 50 51

KOLO VEIDEKKE a.s
P.O. Box 508 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 50
Fax: +47 21 05 50 51

Region North-West
P.O. Box 8042 Spjelkavik, 
N-6022 Ålesund
Bingsa Industriområde
Telephone: +47 70 17 54 00
Fax: +47 70 17 54 10

District Finnmark
Raipasveien, N-9517 Alta
Telephone: +47 78 44 97 00
Fax: +47 78 44 97 01

District Nordland/Troms
Sigerfjord, N-8400 Sortland
Telephone: +47 76 11 16 80
Fax: +47 76 11 16 90

District Trøndelag
P.O. Box 6100 Sluppen, 
N-7435 Trondheim
Vegamot 8
Telephone: +47 73 82 35 00
Fax: +47 73 82 35 95

District Møre
P.O. Box 8042 Spjelkavik, 
N-6022 Ålesund
Bingsa Industriområde
Telephone: +47 70 17 54 00
Fax: +47 70 17 54 10

District Rogaland/Sogn og Fjordane
P.O. Box 8042 Spjelkavik, 
N-6022 Ålesund
Bingsa Industriområde
Telephone: +47 70 17 54 00
Fax: +47 70 17 54 10

Asfaltverket Mo AS
P.O. Box 345, N-8601 Mo i Rana
Telephone: +47 75 12 76 70
Fax: +47 75 12 76 80

Region Østland
P.O. Box 124, N-2051 Jessheim
Industriveien 14
Telephone: +47 63 94 78 50
Fax: +47 63 94 78 51

District South
P.O. Box 65, N-1431 Ås
Langbakken 16
Telephone: +47 64 97 47 30
Fax: +47 64 97 47 35

District Sentral Norway
Hvamsvingen 20, N-2013 Skjetten
Telephone: +47 64 83 19 00
Fax: +47 64 83 19 01

District North
N-2834 Hunndalen
Telephone: +47 61 17 33 65
Fax: +47 61 17 72 70

Department Kongsvinger Asfalt
P.O. Box 1234, N-2201 Kongsvinger
Mårveien 14
Telephone: +47 62 82 88 50
Fax: +47 62 82 88 60

Veidekke Gjenvinning AS
P.O. Box 508 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 00
Fax: +47 21 05 50 21

BA Gjenvinning AS
P.O. Box 55 Mortensrud, N-1214 Oslo
Telephone: +47 22 75 42 20
Fax: +47 22 75 32 84

Carl C. Fon Container AS
Østerøyveien 31, N-3236 Sandefjord
Telephone: +47 33 48 74 50
Fax: +47 33 48 74 60

Dokken AS
P.O. Box 237, N-3470 Slemmestad
Almdalsveien 6
Telephone: +47 66 79 45 00
Fax: +47 66 79 50 26

FF-Resi AS
Småhaugv. 80, N-4362 Vigrestad
Telephone: +47 51 79 11 90
Fax: +47 51 79 11 99

Spesialrenovasjon AS
P.O. Box 273 Økern, N-0511 Oslo
Haraldrudveien 20
Telephone: +47 23 26 78 50
Fax: +47 22 63 08 69

Svensk Kross & Återvinning 
i Uppland AB
Gudebyvägen 31, 
S-194 92 Upplands Väsby, Sweden
Telephone: +46 851 10 23 328
Fax: +46 851 10 23 325

Trondheim Biobrensel AS
Kolo Veidekke a.s
P.O. Box 6100 Sluppen, 
N-7435 Trondheim
Vegamot 8
Telephone: +47 73 82 35 05
Fax: +47 73 82 35 95

Veidekke Bioenergi AS
P.O. Box 273 Økern, N-0511 Oslo
Haraldrudveien 20
Telephone: +47 23 26 78 50
Fax: +47 22 63 08 69

Veidekke Gjenvinning Rogaland A/S
Bøveien 6, N-4365 Nærbø
Telephone: +47 51 43 53 98
Fax: +47 51 43 53 31

Veidekke Gjenvinning Vestfold A/S
Hvittingfossveien 182, 
N-3080 Holmestrand
Telephone: +47 33 06 66 60
Fax: +47 33 06 60 70

Wilhelmsen & Sønner A/S
P.O. Box 273 Økern, N-0511 Oslo
Haraldrudveien 20
Telephone: +47 23 26 78 50
Fax: +47 22 63 08 69

NOREMCO CONSTRUCTION AS
P.O. Box 519 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo
Skabos vei 4
Telephone: +47 21 05 50 60
Fax: +47 21 05 50 61

Tanzania
P.O. Box 23287, Oyster Bay
Dar es Salaam, Tanzania
Telephone: +255 22 260 0540
Fax: +255 22 260 2813
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Veidekke ASA

P.O.Box 505 Skøyen, N-0214 Oslo, Norway

Telephone +47 21 05 50 00 Fax +47 21 05 50 01

E-mail: firmapost@veidekke.no

Internet: www.veidekke.no

The Annual Report is accessible at www.veidekke.biz
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ANNUAL REPORT 2002

SCANDINAVIAN STRENGTH

We have strengthened our presence in the Scandinavian market. 
This increases our competitive thrust and flexibility, creates new arenas
for our expertise and facilitates our further development.




